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Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the 
Company), which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income, equity, and cash flows for the 
years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated financial position of University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries, as of 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit 
of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are required to be independent of the 
Company, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America 
and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these consolidated financial statements 
are available to be issued. 



Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government 
Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the 
aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the consolidated 
financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,

whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as 
a whole. The accompanying supplementary information listed in the table of contents is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is 
the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been 
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain 
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all 
material respects in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 



Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we also have issued our report dated March 25, 2025, 
on our consideration of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, and other matters. 
The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting 
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an 
audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Company’s internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 25, 2025 

Name of Engagement Executive: Matthew Stout, CPA 

Federal Employer Identification Number: 44-0160260



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  

2024 2023

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 29,527,991$    25,120,714$    

Available-for-sale securities, at fair value 2,495,664 45,612

Equity securities, at fair value 10,720,133 16,803,275     

Held-to-maturity securities, at amortized cost 16,592,980 17,110,365

Investment in non-marketable equity securities 1,193,075 1,093,075       

Federal Home Loan Bank stock 6,030,000 6,030,000       

Loans and financings held for sale or

assignment, at fair value 54,659,212 63,883,059     

Loans and financings, net of allowance for credit

losses of $5,082,605 and $4,429,843 777,625,832 729,673,890   

Premises and equipment, net 9,366,642 8,453,688       

Mortgage and financing servicing rights 46,946,041 40,530,048     

Accounts receivable and advances to fund loans 7,218,949 5,860,819       

Accrued interest and financing income receivable 3,694,000 3,181,340       

Prepaid expenses 5,868,635 5,439,050       

Prepaid income taxes 1,823,755       1,782,751       

Real estate owned, net -                  593,478          

Derivatives designated as hedges 889,071          -                  

Mortgage banking derivatives 850,314 986,989          

Goodwill 319,067 422,981          

Customer relationships, net 320,693          382,761          

Operating lease right of use assets 3,686,995 4,132,599       

Other assets 177,297 104,756          

Total assets 980,006,346$   931,631,250$   

December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 4



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (Continued)  

2024 2023

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

LIABILITIES

Deposits:
Demand - non-interest bearing 371,315,190$  375,459,874$  

Demand - interest bearing and profit sharing 12,201,979 13,815,526     

Savings 31,151,564 527,767          

Time 57,600,300 41,654,794     

Brokered time 243,184,000 243,532,000   

Total deposits 715,453,033   674,989,961   

Mortgage banking derivatives -                  825,479          

Accounts payable 1,538,538 1,212,924       

Accrued interest and profit sharing payable 2,104,662 1,846,684       

Allowance for loan and financing recourse 438,030 549,398          

Escrow, mortgage and financing
insurance liabilities 1,119,096 590,335          

Liability to fund closed but undisbursed loans 

and financings 1,090,105       1,511,000       

Deferred income taxes 8,730,648 8,926,623       

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,625,816 5,166,974       

Line of credit -                  1,000,000       

Federal Home Loan Bank advances 90,000,000     105,000,000   

Unsecured debt 42,063,705     27,403,539     
Operating lease liability 3,773,447 4,165,390       

Loan repurchase liability -                  3,861,742       

Dividends payable - common stock 516,952          -                  

Total liabilities 874,454,032   837,050,049   

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

EQUITY

University Bancorp, Inc. stockholders' equity:

Common stock 52,069 52,069            

Treasury stock, at cost (338,298)         (338,298)         

Additional paid-in capital 7,978,048 7,978,048       

Retained earnings 85,195,554 76,279,027     

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net

of income taxes of $186,903 and $0, respectively 703,400          (470)                

Equity attributable to stockholders of University 

Bancorp, Inc. 93,590,773     83,970,376     

Noncontrolling interest 11,961,541 10,610,825     

Total equity 105,552,314   94,581,201     

Total liabilities and equity 980,006,346$  931,631,250$  

December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 5



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

2024 2023

Interest and financing income:

Interest and fees on loans and financing income 54,538,659$     42,265,128$     

Interest on securities:

U.S. government agencies 651,323           387,569           

Other securities 453,766           183,019           

Interest on federal funds and other 2,654,802        4,924,815        

Total interest and financing income 58,298,550      47,760,531      

 

Interest and profit sharing expense:

Interest and profit sharing on deposits:

Demand 509,999           348,606           

Savings 460,652           4,512               

Time 13,130,679      12,562,706      

Short-term Federal Home Loan Bank advances 3,440,275        507,320           

Long-term debt 3,605,309        3,080,139        

Total interest and profit sharing expense 21,146,914      16,503,283      

Net interest and financing income 37,151,636      31,257,248      

Provision for credit losses 713,697           961,795           

Net interest and financing income after

         provision for credit losses 36,437,939      30,295,453      

Noninterest income:

Loan and financing servicing and 

sub-servicing fees 24,525,768      21,878,026      

Origination and other fees 9,728,110        8,970,716        

Gain on sale of mortgage loans, net, and net fee

income for assignment of financings 30,073,554      27,211,023      

Insurance & investment agency fee income 1,992,051 1,549,186        

Deposit service charges and fees 59,107             64,212             

Change in fair value of mortgage and financing 
servicing rights (2,258,982)      (1,694,134)      

Change in fair value of loans and financings 

held for sale or assignment, interest and

financing rate locks, and forward commitments 1,825,247        456,304           

Realized and unrealized loss on equity securities (496,147)         (1,685,228)      

Other income 1,514,338        1,057,560        

Total noninterest income 66,963,046 57,807,665

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 6



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)  

2024 2023

Noninterest expense:

Compensation and benefits 58,546,575$    54,185,523$    

Occupancy 2,965,410       3,081,789       

Data processing and equipment 11,329,409     8,107,382       

Legal and audit 1,263,024       1,711,378       

Consulting 2,188,841       2,128,050       

Mortgage banking 3,847,998       3,223,635       

Advertising 1,226,028       1,023,466       

Membership and training 1,017,712       779,186          

Travel and entertainment 890,064          839,364          

Supplies and postage 2,105,578       1,576,103       

Insurance 1,409,828       437,487          

Director related 673,400          500,100          

FDIC assessments 670,017          583,219          

Amortization of customer relationships 62,068            62,068

Other operating 624,700 793,842          

Total noninterest expense 88,820,652     79,032,592     

Income before income taxes 14,580,333     9,070,526       

Income tax expense 2,762,234       2,270,907       

Net income 11,818,099$    6,799,619$      

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 7



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)  

2024 2023

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Net income 11,818,099$    6,799,619$      

Unrealized gain on derivative hedge,

net of income taxes of $186,705 and $-0-, 

respectively 702,366          -                  

Net unrealized gain on debt securities

available-for-sale, net of income taxes of

$198 and $-0-, respectively 1,504              693                 

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 12,521,969$    6,800,312$      

Net income and comprehensive income

attributable to the noncontrolling interest 1,350,716$      1,373,061$      

Net income attributable to stockholders

of University Bancorp, Inc. 10,467,383$    5,426,558$      

Comprehensive income attributable to

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 11,171,253$    5,427,251$      

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share attributable to common

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 2.02$               1.07$               

Diluted earnings per share attributable to common

stockholders of University Bancorp, Inc. 2.02$               1.07$               

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 5,169,518       4,936,751       

Diluted 5,169,518       4,936,751       

Dividends declared per common share 0.30$               -$                 

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 8



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY  

Accumulated

Other

Compre-

Additional hensive Non-

Number Par Number Par Number Paid-in Retained Income controlling

of Shares Value of Shares Value of Shares Cost Capital Earnings (Loss) Interest Total

Balance at January 1, 2023 5,206,899 52,069$    24,000 24$            277,381 (2,510,298)$     10,150,024$  70,992,869$   (1,163)$         9,237,764$     87,921,289$     

Preferred dividends -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                (140,400)       -               -                 (140,400)          

Conversion of preferred stock -              -           (24,000)    (24)            (240,000)      2,172,000       (2,171,976)    -                -               -                 -                   

Other comprehensive income -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                -                693              -                 693                  

Net income -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                5,426,558      -               1,373,061      6,799,619        

Balance at December 31, 2023 5,206,899   52,069     -           -            37,381          (338,298)        7,978,048     76,279,027    (470)             10,610,825    94,581,201      

Common stock dividends -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                (1,550,856)    -               -                 (1,550,856)       

Other comprehensive income -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                -                703,870       -                 703,870           

Net income -              -           -           -            -               -                 -                10,467,383    -               1,350,716      11,818,099      

Balance at December 31, 2024 5,206,899 52,069$    - -$           37,381 (338,298)$        7,978,048$    85,195,554$   703,400$      11,961,541$   105,552,314$   

 authorized

$.01 par value,

University Bancorp, Inc. Stockholders'

$.001 par value,

 authorized

Common Stock, Preferred Stock,

6,000,000 shares 500,000 shares

Treasury Stock

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 9



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

2024 2023

OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Net income 11,818,099$       6,799,619$         

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash

flows from operating activities: 

Depreciation and amortization 1,773,497          1,706,799          

Net amortization of discount (accretion of premium) on

 purchased loans held for investment 77,526               (57,190)              

Amortization of debt issuance costs 77,877               106,273             

Change in fair value of mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 2,258,982          1,694,134          

Goodwill impairment 103,914             -                     

Change in fair value of loans and financings 

held for sale or assignment, interest and

financing rate locks, and forward commitments (1,825,247)         (456,304)            

Foreign currency exchange (gain) loss (136,575)            (166,081)            

Deferred income tax (benefit) expense 2,544,551          2,012,440          

Provision for credit losses 713,697             961,795             

Loss on sale of other real estate owned 47,484               -                     

Net gain on sale of mortgage loans and net fee

income for assignment of financings (30,073,554)       (27,211,023)       

Unrealized (gain) loss on equity securities 2,179,212          (115,820)            

Realized (gain) loss on sale of equity securities (1,675,711)         1,801,048          

Realized (gain) loss on sale of securities held-to-maturity (7,355)                -                     

Net amortization on securities available-for-sale (37,578)              -                     

Net amortization on securities held-to-maturity (75,684)              (325,427)            

Originations of mortgage loans and financings (1,092,010,784)  (999,889,713)     

Proceeds from mortgage loan sales and 

assignment of financings 1,123,237,390   1,021,855,311   

Non-cash lease expense 53,661               89,318               

Net change in:

Various other assets (2,352,457)         (1,550,522)         

Various other liabilities 3,546,182          (2,028,905)         

Net cash provided by operating activities 20,237,127        5,225,752          

INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Proceeds from paydowns of debt securities 

held-to-maturity 1,071,562          355,425             

Proceeds from paydowns of debt securities 

available-for-sale 1,053,848          16,588               

Purchase of securities available-for-sale (3,465,653)         -                     

Purchase of debt securities held-to-maturity (5,114,094)         (5,446,737)         

Purchase of equity securities (5,906,265)         (10,392,158)       

Proceeds from sale of equity securities 11,486,741        1,426,145          

Proceeds from sale of debt securities held-to maturity 4,779,531          -                     

Purchase of non-marketable equity securities (100,000)            -                     

Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank stock -                     (1,755,000)         

Purchase of loans held for investment (5,938,804)         (9,863,883)         

Investment in solar tax credits (3,002,743)         -                     

Loans and financings granted, and repayments, net (46,627,041)       (178,062,623)     

Proceeds from sale of mortgage servicing rights -                     1,914,962          

Proceeds from sale of real estate owned 574,772             -                     

Costs to improve other real estate owned (28,778)              -                     

Purchases of premises and equipment (2,624,383)         (1,167,283)         

Net cash used in investing activities (53,841,307) (202,974,564)

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements . Page 10



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)  

2024 2023

FINANCING ACTIVITIES  

Net change in deposits 40,463,072$    69,210,280$    

Brokered time deposits issuance costs - (774,250)

Payment of preferred dividends - (411,372)

Net change in short-term borrowings (1,000,000) 1,000,000

Net change in short-term FHLB borrowings  (15,000,000) 55,000,000

Proceeds from issuance of debt 15,000,000 13,500,000

Debt issuance costs (417,711) (328,270)

Payment of common dividends (1,033,904) -

Net cash provided by financing activities 38,011,457     137,196,388   

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND 

CASH EQUIVALENTS 4,407,277       (60,552,424)    

Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning 

of Year 25,120,714     85,673,138     

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End  
of Year 29,527,991$    25,120,714$    

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH  

FLOW INFORMATION:

Cash paid during the year for interest 20,888,936$    15,398,056$    

Cash paid during the year for income taxes 72,165$           475,800$         

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF NON-CASH

TRANSACTIONS:

Increase (decrease) in mortgage loans 

recorded for repurchase option (3,861,742)$     (10,706,323)$   

Loans and financings converted to

real estate owned -$                 593,478$         

Coversion of preferred stock for

 treasury shares -$                 2,280,000$      

Years ended December 31,

See notes to consolidated financial statements. Page 11



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation 
 
The consolidated financial statements of University Bancorp, Inc. (the “Parent”) include 
the operations of its two wholly-owned subsidiaries, University Bank (the “Bank”) and 
Crescent Assurance, PCC (“Crescent”), the Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, Ann 
Arbor Insurance Centre, Inc. (“AAIC”) and Hoover, LLC (“Hoover”), and the Bank’s 80% 
owned subsidiary, UIF Corporation (“UIF”). These consolidated financial statements also 
include the operations of Hoover’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Tuomy, LLC, as well as the 
operations of AAIC’s wholly-owned subsidiary, 2621 Carpenter Road, LLC. 
 
Also included in these consolidated financial statements are the operations of Hyrex 
Servicing, LLC (“Hyrex”), named Arbor Street, LLC prior to changing its name during 
2024. Hyrex was 100% owned by the Bank until it was sold on July 31, 2024 to Hyrex 
Servicing Holding Company, LLC (“Hyrex Holding”). Hyrex Holding is 100% owned by 
the Parent. 
 
The accounts are maintained on an accrual basis in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles and predominant practices within the banking and mortgage 
banking industries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. University Bancorp, Inc. 
and Subsidiaries are herein referred to as the “Company”.  
 
The Parent is a financial holding company. The Bank, which is located in Michigan, is a 
full-service community bank, which offers all customary banking services, including the 
acceptance of checking, savings and time deposits. The Bank also makes commercial, 
real estate, personal, home improvement, automotive and other installment, credit card 
and consumer loans, and provides fee-based services such as foreign currency 
exchange. The Bank also services and subservices loans. The Bank is also engaged in 
the business of marketing, originating, processing, closing and selling retail mortgage 
loans through its fourteen retail branches throughout the United States. The Bank’s 
customer base is primarily located in the Ann Arbor, Michigan metropolitan statistical 
area. 
  
The Bank’s loan portfolio is concentrated in Ann Arbor and Washtenaw County, 
Michigan. While the loan portfolio is diversified, the customers’ ability to honor their 
debts is partially dependent on the local economy. The Ann Arbor area is primarily 
dependent on the education, healthcare, services, and manufacturing (automotive and 
other) industries. Most real estate loans are secured by residential or commercial real 
estate and business assets secure most business loans. Generally, installment loans are 
secured by various items of personal property.  
 
Crescent is a protected cell captive insurance company and commenced operations in 
March 2023. Crescent is authorized to form protected cells. No cells have been 
established by Crescent to date. Crescent is engaged in the business of providing 
commercial property and various liability insurance to its Parent, the Parent’s 
subsidiaries, and unaffiliated entities. 



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
AAIC is engaged in the sale of insurance products including life, health, property and 
casualty, and investment products such as annuities. AAIC is located in the building 
owned by 2621 Carpenter Road, LLC in Ann Arbor, MI.  
 
Hoover owns the Bank’s headquarters facility. Tuomy owns commercial land with a drive 
through ATM and a rental building located near the Bank’s headquarters facility. 
 
Hyrex invests in real estate-related assets including residential mortgage loans, 
mortgage servicing rights, real property, small commercial mortgage loans, securities 
that are backed by these underlying assets, and related investments.  
 
UIF is a faith-based financial services firm and was formed in December 2005. UIF is 
based in Southfield, Michigan. Its current products, which comply with federal, state and 
faith-based law, are deposits (as agent for the Bank) that are insured by the Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”), home financings (as agent for the Bank), 
home financings and commercial real estate financings (as principal for its own account), 
and consumer vehicle financing. Products compliant with faith-based law are offered to 
service the large number of faith-based customers who have an ethical aversion to 
paying or receiving fixed interest.  
 
For several years, UIF offered three distinct financing methods offered to both residential 
and commercial customers, which include redeemable lease, installment sale contracts, 
and declining balance partnerships. However, due to a significant shift in demand, UIF 
shifted solely to originating the declining balance partnership model for all real estate 
financing. 
 
Under the former and most seldom used redeemable lease method, a single-asset trust 
or an LLC was established by or on behalf of the originator (Bank/UIF), as settlor, 
naming a special purpose entity as the trustee or manager. The trust or LLC is subject to 
the terms of the written indenture designed for this specific purpose which is used 
generically for all financings in the redeemable lease program. The funds necessary to 
acquire the real property are deposited into the trust or LLC by the originator, as settlor, 
and used to fund the purchase of the property. The trust or LLC then enters into a 
combination lease/contract-for-deed agreement with the lessee/purchaser. The settlor is 
the initial beneficiary of the trust or LLC, but the beneficial interest in the payment stream 
arising from the trust or LLC is assignable to third parties. The power to remove and 
appoint trustees or managers is granted to the beneficiary and the beneficiary has the 
power to direct the trustee or manager with respect to foreclosure of the property. These 
rights are assignable with the payment stream. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
The terms of the lease and contract-for-deed agreements, in combination, result in a 
payment stream and cost of the real property that are functionally equivalent to secured 
real estate lending for both the lessee/purchaser and UIF. The lease payment under the 
lease agreement is like an interest payment under a conventional mortgage. The 
contract-for-deed payments resemble a principal payment under a conventional 
mortgage. 
 
The lease and contract-for-deed payment streams are combined and considered as a 
single transaction. These redeemable lease arrangements are treated as sales-type 
leases in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”), with 
no profit or loss at lease commencement. This financing model is no longer used, but a 
legacy portfolio remains on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet. 
 
Accordingly, the Company’s accounting for this product is essentially the same as a 
conventional mortgage product. To reflect the substance of the residential and 
commercial redeemable lease transactions, the Company uses the consolidated balance 
sheet account title “Loans and financings” instead of a typical title of “Loans”. In the 
consolidated statements of operations, “Interest and fees on loans” is modified to state, 
“Interest and fees on loans and financing income”.  
 
The second form of financing was the installment sale method. As agent for the Bank, 
UIF bought either a residential or a commercial property selected by a customer and 
then resold it to the customer, at a selling price higher than the purchase price. The 
difference between UIF’s purchase price and the selling price is the profit that the 
ultimate holder of the installment contract would accrete into income over the life of the 
contract. After the residential financing contract was executed by UIF and the customer, 
the contract was assigned to the Bank, and then assigned to the Federal Home Loan 
Mortgage Corporation (“Freddie Mac”). Freddie Mac then reimbursed the Bank for the 
outlay of cash to purchase the property and paid the Bank a fee for origination. The 
cash, origination fees and servicing rights were retained by UIF under a master 
agreement between UIF and the Bank. The customer pays Freddie Mac for the property 
that was purchased on an installment basis, in accordance with an agreed repayment 
schedule.  
 
The Company recorded these contracts at fair value for the short period of time that they 
were held before assignment to Freddie Mac. The residential financing installment 
contracts were assigned with servicing retained. Thus, the value of the installment 
contract and value of the servicing was determined to calculate the fair value and any 
gain or loss on the assignment of the underlying installment contract. After commercial 
financing contracts were executed, they are retained on UIF’s balance sheet as 
financings. See Note 24 for additional discussion of the determination of fair value. This 
financing model is no longer used, but a legacy portfolio remains on the Company’s 
consolidated balance sheet. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Nature of Operations and Principles of Consolidation (Continued) 
 
The third and only remaining financing method uses the declining balance partnership 
model to enter into a declining balance agreement and payment agreement as joint 
owner, secured by a mortgage or deed of trust, with a commercial or residential 
customer once the customer selects the property. With the customer holding registered 
title, the declining balance agreement outlines the percentage of ownership which shifts 
over time from the joint owner to the customer as the customer makes monthly buyout 
payments towards the buyout price. 
 
The monthly buyout payments are also inclusive of use payments to the joint owner 
(UIF) in consideration for UIF allowing the customer to use their portion of the property. 
After the residential declining balance agreements are executed by UIF and the 
customer, the contract and UIF’s ownership rights are assigned to either Freddie Mac or 
the Federal National Mortgage Association (“Fannie Mae”) or are retained on the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheet as financings. After commercial financing 
contracts are executed, they are retained on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet 
as financings or could involve a participating bank. This model can be utilized for both 
fixed and variable rate mortgage transactions. Upon closing, if these residential 
financings are to be transferred to Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae, the Company records 
these residential financings at fair value for the short period of time that they are held 
before being transferred. These residential financings are assigned with servicing 
retained. See Note 24 for additional discussion of the determination of fair value. 
 
The Company also offers a vehicle financing product using a joint purchase agreement 
and an installment sale contract. After vehicle financing contracts are executed, they are 
retained as a fully amortizing installment sale financing on the Company’s consolidated 
balance sheet as financings. 
 
On the liability side of the balance sheet, UIF (as agent for the Bank) also offers FDIC–
insured faith-based profit-sharing deposit accounts. These deposits are specifically 
invested in investments compliant with faith-based law such as, but not limited to, home 
and commercial real estate financings, MSRs, and consumer vehicle financings. The 
profits shared with depositors are derived specifically from the revenues from the 
investments compliant with faith-based law, net of expenses. In compliance with the 
FDIC definition of a deposit, balances in these accounts, like all deposit accounts, are 
FDIC-insured. An anticipated profit-sharing arrangement is disclosed to the depositor, 
and the account is structured as a variable rate deposit that can accommodate 
fluctuations in profit sharing depending on the earnings of the specific portfolio. The 
earnings paid to the depositors by the Bank are accounted for as an expense. This 
expense is analogous to interest expense paid on deposits in conventional financing. To 
reflect the legal substance of the profit-sharing deposits, the Company uses the balance 
sheet account title “Demand/time deposits – interest bearing and profit sharing” instead 
of the typical title of “Demand/time deposits – interest bearing”. In the consolidated 
statements of operations and comprehensive income, “Interest on deposits” is modified 
to state, “Interest and profit sharing on deposits”. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Use of Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions based upon available information. These estimates 
and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 
 
The significant estimates incorporated into these financial statements, which are most 
susceptible to change in the near term, include the identification and valuation of 
mortgage and financing servicing rights, the allowance for credit losses, the valuation of 
real estate owned, impairment analysis of goodwill and other intangible assets, the 
valuation allowance for deferred tax assets, the fair value of loans and financings held 
for sale or assignment, the fair value of derivative instruments such as mortgage interest 
and financing rate locks and forward commitments, recourse liabilities related to loans 
sold and financings assigned and loans and financings held for sale or assignment, the 
valuation of stock options and related stock based-compensation, if any, the fair value of 
the contingent earn-out liabilities, the amount of contingent liabilities, and the 
determination and the fair value of other financial instruments. 
 
Cash Flow Reporting 
 
For purposes of the consolidated statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents is 
defined to include the cash on hand, interest bearing deposits in other institutions, 
federal funds sold, and other investments with an original maturity of three months or 
less. Net cash flows are reported for customer loans and financings, deposit 
transactions, and interest-bearing deposits with other banks. 
 
Investment in Marketable Securities 
 
Marketable debt securities held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost, net of an 
allowance for credit losses. Marketable debt securities available-for-sale are carried at 
fair value, net of any allowance for credit losses, with unrealized holding gains and 
losses reported in other comprehensive income or loss. Realized gains and losses on 
the sale of marketable debt securities available-for-sale are recorded in the consolidated 
statements of operations. 
 
Marketable equity securities are carried at fair value, with unrealized and realized gains 
and losses reported in earnings. 
 
Investment securities transactions are recorded on the trade date for purchases and 
sales. Interest earned on investment securities, including the amortization of premiums 
and the accretion of discounts, are determined using the effective interest method over 
the period of maturity and recorded in interest income in the consolidated statements of 
operations.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Investment in Non-Marketable Equity Securities 
  
Non-marketable equity securities consist of an investment in shares of a privately-held 
trust bank without a readily determinable fair value. All gains and losses on non-
marketable equity securities, realized and unrealized, are recognized in earnings. 
 
The Company elected the measurement alternative in Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2016-01 Financial Instruments, as amended by ASU 2018-03 Technical 
Corrections and Improvements to Financial Instruments, to account for non-marketable 
equity securities. Under this alternative, the carrying value of non-marketable equity 
securities is adjusted up or down for observable price changes in orderly transactions for 
identical or similar investments of the same issuer. All gains and losses on non-
marketable equity securities, realized and unrealized, are recognized in earnings.  
 
Fair value may differ from the observed transaction price due to a number of factors, 
including marketability adjustments and differences in rights and obligations when the 
observed transaction is not for the identical investment held. The Company applies a 
price-based methodology, which utilizes, where available, quoted prices or other market 
information obtained from recent trading activity in positions with the same or similar 
characteristics to the position being valued. The frequency and size of transactions are 
among the factors that are driven by the liquidity of markets and determine the relevance 
of observed prices in those markets. Determining whether an observed transaction is 
similar to a security within the Company’s portfolio requires judgment based on the rights 
and obligations of the security. Recording upward and downward adjustments to the 
carrying value of the Company’s non-marketable equity securities as a result of 
observable price changes requires quantitative assessments of the fair value of 
securities using various valuation methodologies and involves the use of estimates. The 
Company’s estimate of fair value may differ significantly from the value that would have 
been used had an orderly market existed for the securities, and the difference could be 
material.  
 
Non-marketable equity securities under the measurement alternative are also assessed 
for impairment. Impairment indicators that are considered include, but are not limited to, 
(a) a significant deterioration in the earnings performance, credit rating, asset quality or 
business prospects of the investee, (b) a significant adverse change in the regulatory, 
economic or technological environment of the investee, (c) a significant adverse change 
in the general market condition of either the geographical area or the industry in which 
the investee operates (d) a bona fide offer to purchase, an offer by the investee to sell or 
a completed auction process for the same or similar investment for an amount less than 
the carrying amount of that investment, and (e) factors that raise significant concerns 
about the investee’s ability to continue as a going concern, such as negative cash flows 
from operations, working capital deficiencies or noncompliance with statutory capital 
requirements or debt covenants. When the qualitative assessment indicates that 
impairment exists, the investment is written down, with impairment recognized in 
earnings. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Federal Home Loan Bank Stock 
 
As a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank (the “FHLB”), the Bank is required to 
invest in FHLB stock, which is carried at cost since there is no readily available market 
value. When redeemed, the Bank receives an amount equal to the par value of the 
stock. Dividends paid on the FHLB stock are subject to economic events, regulatory 
actions, and other factors.  
 
Loans and Financings 
 
Loans and financings are reported at the principal balance outstanding, net of unearned 
interest or financing income, discounts, deferred loan or financing fees and costs, and an 
allowance for credit losses. Interest income is reported on the interest method and 
includes amortization of discounts and net deferred loan fees and costs over the loan 
term. Financing income is calculated monthly and includes amortization of net deferred 
financing fees and costs over the term of the financing. Interest or financing income is 
not reported when full loan repayment is in doubt, typically when payments are past due 
over ninety days. Payments received on such loans and financings are reported as 
principal reductions, unless all interest or financing income and principal payments in 
arrears are paid in full.  
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement - CECL  
 
Effective January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - 
Credit Losses ("ASC 326"). This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with 
an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss 
("CECL") methodology. CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining 
estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts, and generally applies to financial assets 
measured at amortized cost, including loan and financing receivables and held-to-
maturity debt securities, and some off-balance sheet credit exposures, such as unfunded 
commitments to extend credit. Financial assets measured at amortized cost will be 
presented at the net amount expected to be collected by using an allowance for credit 
losses.  
 
In addition, CECL made changes to the accounting for available-for-sale debt securities. 
One such change is to require credit losses to be presented as an allowance rather than 
as a write-down on available-for-sale debt securities if management does not intend to 
sell and does not believe that it is more likely than not, they will be required to sell. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncement - CECL (Continued) 
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 and all related subsequent amendments thereto 
effective January 1, 2023 using the modified retrospective approach for all financial 
assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures. The 
transition adjustment of the adoption of CECL did not have a material impact on the 
financial statements, and hence, management determined that an adjustment to retained 
earnings as of January 1, 2023 for the cumulative effect of adopting CECL was not 
necessary.  
 
The Company adopted ASC 326 using the prospective transition approach for debt 
securities for which other-than-temporary impairment had been recognized prior to 
January 1, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, the Company did not have any other than-
temporary impaired investment securities. Therefore, upon adoption of ASC 326, the 
Company determined that an allowance for credit losses on available-for-sale securities 
was not deemed material. 
 
The Company elected not to measure an allowance for credit losses for accrued interest 
and financing income receivable and instead elected to reverse interest and financing 
income on loans and financings or securities that are placed on nonaccrual status, which 
is generally when the instrument is 90 days past due, or earlier if the Company believes 
the collection of interest and financing income is doubtful. The Company has concluded 
that this policy results in the timely reversal of uncollectible interest and financing 
income. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Held-to-Maturity Securities 
 
Management measures expected credit losses on held-to-maturity debt securities on a 
collective basis by major security type. The estimate of expected credit losses is 
primarily based on the ratings assigned to the securities by debt rating agencies and the 
average of the annual historical loss rates associated with those ratings. The Company 
then multiplies those loss rates, as adjusted for any modifications to reflect current 
conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts as considered necessary, by the 
remaining lives of each individual security to arrive at a lifetime expected loss amount. 
Management classifies the held-to-maturity portfolio into the following major security 
types: mortgage-backed securities or foreign corporate bonds. 
 
All the mortgage-backed securities held by the Company are issued by government-
sponsored corporations. These securities are either explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by 
the U.S. government, are highly rated by major rating agencies, and have a long history 
of no credit losses. Management monitors the fair value of the foreign corporate bonds 
held by the Company through market indicators, and the fair value exceeded the 
carrying value. As a result, no allowance for credit losses was recorded on held-to-
maturity securities at December 31, 2024 and 2023. Accrued interest receivable is 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Available-for-Sale Securities 
 
For available-for-sale securities, management evaluates all investments in an unrealized 
loss position on a regular basis. If the Company has the intent to sell the security or it is 
more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the security, the security is 
written down to fair value and the entire loss is recorded in earnings. 
 
If either of the above criteria is not met, the Company evaluates whether the decline in 
fair value is the result of credit losses or other factors. In making the assessment, the 
Company may consider various factors including the extent to which fair value is less 
than amortized cost, performance on any underlying collateral, downgrades in the 
ratings of the security by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled 
interest or principal payments, and adverse conditions specifically related to the security. 
If the assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows 
expected to be collected are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security and 
any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair 
value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any amount of unrealized loss that has not 
been recorded through an allowance for credit loss is recognized in other 
comprehensive income. 
 
Changes in the allowance for credit loss are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) 
credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the allowance for credit loss when 
management believes an available-for-sale security is confirmed to be uncollectible or 
when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. At December 31, 
2024 and 2023, there was no allowance for credit loss related to the available-for-sale 
portfolio. Accrued interest receivable is excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans and Financings 
 
The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loan’s or 
financing’s amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on 
the loans. Loans and financings are charged off against the allowance when 
management believes the uncollectibility of a loan or financing balance is confirmed. 
Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off 
and expected to be charged-off. Accrued interest and financing income receivable is 
excluded from the estimate of credit losses. 
 
The allowance for credit losses represents management's estimate of lifetime credit 
losses inherent in loans and financings as of the balance sheet date. The allowance for 
credit losses is estimated by management using relevant available information, from 
both internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and 
reasonable and supportable forecasts. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans and Financings (Continued) 
 
The Company measures expected credit losses for loans and financings on a pooled 
basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The Company has identified the following 
portfolio segments for calculating the allowance for credit losses: commercial, 
commercial real estate, residential real estate, and consumer loans. These segments 
are evaluated based on the failure of the borrower to make scheduled interest and 
financing income or principal payments, performance of underlying collateral, and 
market conditions. 
 
Additionally, the allowance for credit losses calculation includes subjective adjustments 
for qualitative risk factors that are likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from 
historical experience. These qualitative adjustments may increase or reduce reserve 
levels and include adjustments for lending management experience and risk tolerance, 
loan review and audit results, asset quality and portfolio trends, loan and financing 
portfolio growth, industry concentrations, trends in underlying collateral, external factors, 
and economic conditions not already captured. 
 
Loans and financings that do not share risk characteristics are evaluated on an 
individual basis. When management determines that foreclosure is probable and the 
borrower is experiencing financial difficulty, the expected credit losses are based on the 
fair value of collateral at the reporting date, adjusted for selling costs as appropriate. 
 
Allowance for Credit Losses - Unfunded Commitments 
 
Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments 
to make loans and financings, and commercial letters of credit issued to meet customer 
financing needs. The Company's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance 
by the other party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan and financing 
commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. Such 
financial instruments are recorded when they are funded. 
 
The Company records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit 
exposures, unless the commitments to extend credit are unconditionally cancelable, 
through a charge to provision in the Company's statement of operations. The allowance 
for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is estimated by loan and 
financing segment at each balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss 
model using the same methodologies as portfolio loans and financings, taking into 
consideration the likelihood that funding will occur as well as any third-party guarantees. 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023 the Company recorded an allowance for credit loss 
for off-balance sheet credit exposures of $102,197 and $63,135, respectively, as a 
liability included in accrued expenses and other liabilities on the consolidated balance 
sheets. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Premises and Equipment 
 
Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
amortization. Depreciation and amortization is computed primarily on the straight-line 
method over the assets’ estimated useful lives which range from three to thirty-nine 
years. In the case of a leasehold improvement, the life will be the lesser of the term of 
the lease and the estimated useful life. 
 
Leases 
 
The Company is party to certain operating leases. In accordance with ASC 842, Leases, 
the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. A lease liability and a 
right-of-use asset are recognized at the start of the lease for these operating leases 
based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term. The cost of the right-
of-use asset also includes any initial direct costs and any lease payments made on or 
before the inception date, less any incentives received. A right-of-use asset is amortized 
to lease expense on a straight-line basis from the inception date until the earlier of the 
end of the asset’s useful life or the end of the lease term. Right-of-use assets are subject 
to impairment. 
 
Lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that rate 
can be readily determined. If it cannot be easily determined, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used. Book value is re-measured if the lease term changes. The 
Company applies the exemptions for recognizing short-term leases (those leases with 
terms of 12 months or less from the inception date and that do not include a purchase 
option) and leases in which the underlying asset is of low value. The lease payments 
deriving from these contracts are expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
The Company also elected not to separate lease and non-lease components for all 
leases. 
 
The Company establishes the lease term as the irrevocable period of a lease plus: (i) 
any periods covered by an option to extend the lease, if the Company is reasonably 
certain that it will exercise this option; and (ii) any periods covered by an option to 
terminate the lease if the Company is reasonably certain that it will not exercise this 
option. 
 
Variable lease payments that include payments based upon changes in a rate or index, 
such as consumer price indexes, as well as usage of the lease asset, such as utilities, 
real estate taxes, insurance, and variable common area maintenance, are expensed as 
incurred. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any material residual value 
guarantees or material restrictive covenants.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Mortgage Banking Activities 
 
The Company’s mortgage banking activities consist of retail and servicing operations. 
Loans and financings held for sale are sold or assigned with selective loans or 
financings having their servicing or financing rights retained, and others are sold or 
assigned on a servicing released basis. The Company has elected to record all loans 
and financings held for sale at fair value. Loans and financings are generally sold or 
assigned without recourse, except in certain events as defined in the related sale or 
assignment documents.  
 
An allowance was booked for potential recourse liabilities related to loans and financings 
sold or assigned, and loans and financings held for sale or assignment, in the amount of 
$438,030 and $549,398 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
At certain times the Company may be required to buyback loans from a purchaser in 
accordance with loan purchase documents if certain representations and warranties 
regarding eligibility and underwriting are not met. Also, certain securitization programs 
allow the Company to buy back individual delinquent mortgage loans from the 
securitized loan pool once certain conditions are met. When individual loans meet the 
specified delinquency criteria and are eligible for repurchase, the Company has the 
option to repurchase the delinquent loan for an amount equal to 100% of the loan’s 
remaining principal balance and must account for loans as if they had been 
repurchased, provided the buyback option provides the Company with a “more-than-
trivial benefit.” The delinquent loans must be brought back onto the Company’s balance 
sheet as assets and initially recorded at fair value, regardless of whether the Company 
intends to exercise the buyback option. An offsetting liability is also recorded. Included in 
the loans held for investment at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are $-0- and $3,861,742, 
respectively, of delinquent residential loans that the Company has the option to buy 
back. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, a loan repurchase liability of $-0- and 
$3,861,742, respectively, is recorded on the balance sheet related to these repurchase 
options. 
 
Mortgage and financing servicing rights (“MSRs”) represent both purchased rights and 
the allocated value of servicing rights retained on loans or financings originated and sold 
or assigned. Loan and financing servicing and sub-servicing fees are contractually 
based and are recognized monthly as earned over the life of the loans or financings. 
 
MSRs are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently can either be: (1) 
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in earnings; or (2) amortized 
and assessed for impairment. These options may be applied by class of servicing assets 
or liabilities. The Company has elected to apply fair value accounting to all MSRs.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Real Estate Owned 
 
Real estate properties acquired upon foreclosure of a loan or financing are recorded at 
fair value upon foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. Any difference between the 
fair value of the real estate from the carrying value of the related loan or financing is 
accounted for as a credit loss. After foreclosure, management periodically performs 
valuations to ensure real estate is carried at the lower of cost or fair value, less 
estimated costs to sell. Expenses, gains and losses on disposition, and decreases in the 
fair value are reported in noninterest expense. The Company had real estate owned 
totaling $-0- and $593,478 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, which  
related to residential real estate loans and financings. As of December 31, 2024, there 
were no other loans and financings that are in the process of foreclosure. 
 
Derivatives  
 
At the inception of a derivative contract, the Company designates the derivative as one 
of three types based on the Company’s intentions and belief as to likely effectiveness as 
a hedge. These three types are (1) a hedge of the fair value of a recognized asset or 
liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment (“fair value hedge”), (2) a hedge of a 
forecasted transaction or the variability of cash flows to be received or paid related to a 
recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”), or (3) an instrument with no hedging 
designation (“non-designated derivative”). For a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the 
derivative, as well as the offsetting loss or gain on the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk, are recognized in current earnings as fair values change. For a cash flow 
hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative is reported in other comprehensive income 
(loss) and is reclassified into earnings in the same periods during which the hedged 
transaction affects earnings. Changes in the fair value of derivatives not designated are 
reported currently in earnings, as non-interest income. 
 
Accrued settlements on derivatives that qualify for hedge accounting are recorded in 
interest income or interest expense, based on the item being hedged. Accrued 
settlements on derivatives not designated are reported in non-interest income. Cash 
flows on hedges are classified in the cash flow statement the same as the cash flows of 
the items being hedged. 
 
The Company formally documents the relationship between derivatives and hedged 
items, as well as the risk-management objective and the strategy for undertaking hedge 
transactions at the inception of the hedging relationship. This documentation includes 
linking fair value or cash flow hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance 
sheet or to specific firm commitments or forecasted transactions. The Company also 
formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing basis, whether the 
derivative instruments that are designated are highly effective in offsetting changes in 
fair values or cash flows of the hedged items. The Company discontinues hedge 
accounting when it determines that the derivative is no longer effective in offsetting 
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedged item, the derivative is settled or 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Derivatives (Continued) 
 
terminates, a hedged forecasted transaction is no longer probable, a hedged firm 
commitment is no longer firm, or treatment of the derivative as a hedge is no longer 
appropriate or intended. When hedge accounting is discontinued, subsequent changes 
in fair value of the derivative are recorded as non-interest income. When a fair value 
hedge is discontinued, the hedged asset or liability is no longer adjusted for changes in 
fair value and the existing basis adjustment is amortized or accreted over the remaining 
life of the asset or liability. When a cash flow hedge is discontinued but the hedged cash 
flows or forecasted transactions are still expected to occur, gains or losses that were 
accumulated in other comprehensive income are amortized into earnings over the same 
periods which the hedged transactions will affect earnings. 
 
The Company is exposed to losses if a counterparty fails to make its payments under a 
contract in which the Company is in the net receiving position. The Company anticipates 
that the counterparties will be able to fully satisfy their obligations under the agreements.  
 
Mortgage Banking Derivatives 
 
The Company enters into interest and financing rate lock commitments (“IRLCs”) in 
connection with its mortgage banking activities to fund residential mortgage loans and 
financings within specified times in the future. These instruments are accounted for as 
non-designated derivatives. IRLCs that relate to the origination of mortgage loans and 
financings that will be held for sale or assignment are considered derivative instruments. 
As such, these IRLCs are recorded at fair value (see Note 24) with net changes in fair 
value recorded in earnings. 
 
Outstanding IRLCs expose the Company to the risk that the price of the loans or 
financings underlying the commitments might decline from inception of the rate lock to 
the funding of the loan or financing. To protect against this risk, the Company utilizes 
forward loan and financing sales commitments to economically hedge the risk of 
potential changes in the value of the loans and financings that would result from the 
commitments. These forward commitments are recorded at fair value (see Note 24) with 
net changes in fair value recorded in earnings. 
 
Goodwill  
 
Goodwill is the excess costs of acquired businesses over the fair value amounts 
assigned to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company reviews 
goodwill for impairment annually or whenever events and circumstances have occurred 
that indicate a potential impairment.  
 
When performing an impairment test, management compares the fair value of a 
reporting unit with its carrying value at the measurement date. If the carrying value of the 
reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value, an impairment loss is recognized in 
an amount not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Long-Lived Assets  
 
Management periodically reviews the potential impairment of long-lived assets to assess 
recoverability. If a long-lived asset is deemed to be impaired, the write-down is recorded 
as a periodic expense. There was no impairment recorded during 2024 or 2023. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded for estimated future tax 
consequences attributable to the differences between the financial carrying amounts of 
existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred income taxes are 
to be computed on the liability method and deferred tax assets are recognized only when 
realization is certain. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using 
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be realized. The effect on deferred income tax 
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that 
includes the enactment date. If necessary, a valuation allowance is booked to reduce net 
deferred tax assets to a net amount that is more likely than not to be realized. 
 
The benefit of an uncertain tax position is recognized in the financial statements if it 
meets a minimum recognition threshold. A determination is first made as to whether it is 
more likely than not that the income tax position will be sustained, based upon technical 
merits, upon examination by the taxing authorities. If the income tax position is expected 
to meet the more-likely-than-not criteria, the benefit recorded in the financial statements 
equals the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely to be realized upon its ultimate 
settlement. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there are no uncertain tax positions for 
which a reserve or liability is recognized. 
 
From time to time, the Company invests in tax credit structures. The Company has 
elected to account for its investment in its solar tax credit structure using the proportional 
amortization method. Under this method, the tax credit investment is amortized in 
proportion to the allocation of tax credits and other tax benefits in each period. The 
resulting amortization is presented net with the tax credits and other tax benefits within 
income tax expense.  
 
The Parent and the Bank have a tax sharing agreement with some of its subsidiaries in 
which the subsidiaries record their share of federal and state taxes in accordance with 
the tax sharing agreements.  
 
Share Based Compensation 
 
The Company sometimes issues stock options to directors of the Company in lieu of 
director fees.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Share Based Compensation (Continued) 
 
The Company recognizes compensation cost relating to share-based payment 
transactions in the consolidated financial statements. That cost is measured based on 
the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. The fair value of the Company’s 
options are determined pursuant to the Black-Scholes model at the date of issuance. As 
the options vest, the Company recognizes compensation expense in earnings.  
 
The grant date fair value of options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model, which values options based on the stock price at the grant date, expected term of 
the option, expected volatility of the stock, expected dividend payments, exercise price, 
and risk-free interest rate over the expected term of the option. The Company accounts 
for any forfeitures of options when they occur.  
 
The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for estimating the fair value of 
traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. Because 
option valuation models require the use of subjective assumptions, changes in these 
assumptions can materially affect the fair value of the options. As the Company’s options 
do not have the characteristics of traded options, the option valuation models do not 
necessarily provide a reliable measure of the fair value of its options.  
 
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not have any 
outstanding stock options. As a result, the Company did not have any share-based 
compensation expense during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
Computation of EPS 
 
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income attributable to 
common stockholders by the weighted-average common shares outstanding in the 
period. Diluted EPS is computed by giving effect to all potentially dilutive securities that 
are outstanding and excludes the effect of any potentially antidilutive securities. The 
number of shares related to options included in diluted EPS is based on the treasury 
stock method. 
 
During 2023, the Company had issued and outstanding preferred shares that earned 
preferred dividends. In the determination of EPS for the year ended December 31, 2023, 
net income available to common stockholders was reduced by the amount of preferred 
dividends. 
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
Subsequent Events 
 
The Company has performed a review of events subsequent to December 31, 2024, 
through March 25, 2025, the date the consolidated financial statements were available to 
be issued. 
 
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 
 
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 
2023-02 - Investments - Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic 323) - Accounting for 
Investments in Tax Credit Structures Using the Proportional Amortization Method 
 
ASU 2023-02 is intended to improve the accounting and disclosures for investments in 
tax credit structures by allowing reporting entities to elect to account for qualifying tax 
equity investments using the proportional amortization method, regardless of the 
program giving rise to the related income tax credits. This ASU responds to stakeholder 
feedback that the proportional amortization method provides investors and other 
allocators of capital with a better understanding of the returns from investments that are 
made primarily for the purpose of receiving income tax credits and other income tax 
benefits. 
 
Reporting entities were previously permitted to apply the proportional amortization 
method only to qualifying tax equity investments in low-income housing tax credit 
structures. In recent years, stakeholders asked the FASB to extend the application of the 
proportional amortization method to qualifying tax equity investments that generate tax 
credits through other programs. 
 
ASU 2023-02 is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2023. The Company adopted this guidance effective January 1, 2024 and applied the 
guidance to its only investment in a tax credit structure which was initially made in 2024.  
 
FASB ASU 2023-07 - Segment Reporting (Topic 280) - Improvements to Reportable 
Segment Disclosures 
 
ASU 2023-07 is intended to improve disclosures about reportable segments and 
addresses requests from investors and other allocators of capital for additional, more 
detailed information about a reportable segment’s expenses. 
 
ASU 2023-07 applies to all public entities that are required to report segment information 
in accordance with Topic 280 and is effective for the Company for fiscal years beginning 
after December 15, 2023. The Company adopted this guidance effective January 1, 
2024 and adoption did not have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements, as the Company has one operating segment. See Note 25 for 
segment information disclosures.  
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NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 
New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 
 
FASB ASU 2023-09 - Income Taxes (Topic 740) - Improvements to Income Tax 
Disclosures 
 
ASU 2023-09 is intended to enhance income tax disclosures to address investor 
requests for more information about the tax risks and opportunities present in an entity’s 
worldwide operations. 
 
The two primary enhancements disaggregate existing income tax disclosures related to 
the effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. These amendments require 
that public business entities disclose specific categories in the rate reconciliation and 
provide additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold. 
The amendments also require that all entities disclose the amount of income taxes paid 
(net of refunds received) disaggregated by federal, state and foreign, and the amount of 
income taxes paid (net of refunds received) disaggregated by individual jurisdictions in 
which income taxes paid (net of refunds received) is equal to or greater than five percent 
of total income taxes paid (net of refunds received). 
 
For the Company, ASU 2023-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2024. Early adoption is permitted for annual financial statements that have not yet 
been issued or made available for issue. The amendments should be applied on a 
prospective basis. The Company is assessing the terms of this guidance. Adoption of 
the standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements. 
 
FASB ASU 2024-03 - Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense 
Disaggregation Disclosures 
 
ASU 2024-03 requires public business entities to disclose specific information about 
certain costs and expenses in the notes to the financial statements. 
 
The objective of the disclosure requirements is to provide disaggregated information 
about a public business entity's expenses to help investors (a) better understand the 
entity's performance, (b) better assess the entity's prospects for future cash flows, and 
(c) compare an entity's performance over time and with that of other entities. 
 
The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2026. Early adoption is permitted. The Company is assessing the terms of this guidance. 
Adoption of the standard is not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES  
 
Marketable Securities 
 
Marketable investment securities have been classified according to management’s 
intent. The amortized cost of marketable investment securities and their approximate fair 
values are as follows: 
 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2024 Cost Gains Losses Value

At amortized cost:
U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities
held-to-maturity 16,592,980$   -$                (1,326,184)$    15,266,796$   

At fair value:
U.S. Treasury securities

available-for-sale 2,494,630$     1,271$            (237)$              2,495,664$     
Equity securities 13,880,393    1,562,355      (4,722,615)     10,720,133    

Total at fair value 16,375,023$   1,563,626$     (4,722,852)$    13,215,797$   

 
There was no allowance for credit losses on held-to-maturity or available-for-sale debt 
securities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
The Company monitors the credit quality of debt securities held-to-maturity using credit 
ratings. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no securities held-to-
maturity that were past due 30 days or more as to principal or interest payments. The 
Company had no securities held-to-maturity classified as nonaccrual during the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair

December 31, 2023 Cost Gains Losses Value

At amortized cost:
U.S. agency mortgage-

backed securities
held-to-maturity 12,563,467$   -$                (996,930)$       11,566,537$   

Foreign corporate bonds 4,546,898      187,655         -                 4,734,553      

Total at amortized cost 17,110,365$   187,655$        (996,930)$       16,301,090$   
 
At fair value:

U.S. agency mortgage-
backed securities
available-for-sale 46,082$          -$                (470)$              45,612$          

Equity securities 17,547,476    3,179,999      (3,924,200)     16,803,275    

Total at fair value 17,593,558$   3,179,999$     (3,924,670)$    16,848,887$   
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NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES (Continued) 
 
Marketable Securities (Continued) 
 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of marketable investment securities 
pledged to secure certain line of credit borrowings was $15,254,142 and $11,612,149, 
respectively. The balance of these borrowings at both December 31, 2024 and 2023 was 
$-0-.  
 
The following is a summary of maturities of marketable debt securities held-to-maturity 
and available-for-sale as of December 31, 2024: 
 

Amortized Amortized
Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

Amounts maturing in:
One year or less -$                -$                2,453,232$     2,454,176$     
After one year 

through five years -                 -                 -                 -                
After five years 

through ten years -                 -                 -                 -                
After ten years 16,592,980    15,266,796    41,398           41,488           

16,592,980$   15,266,796$   2,494,630$     2,495,664$     

Held-to-maturity Available-for-sale

Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers and borrowers 
may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment 
penalties.  
 
Unrealized Loss Disclosures 
 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale 
debt securities for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, 
aggregated by category and length of time that the securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024: 
 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. Treasury securities
available-for-sale 1,558,001$     (237)$              1,558,001$     (237)$             

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total
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NOTE 2 – INVESTMENT SECURITIES (Continued) 
 
Unrealized Loss Disclosures (Continued) 
 
The following table shows the gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale 
debt securities for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded, 
aggregated by category and length of time that the securities have been in a continuous 
unrealized loss position at December 31, 2023: 
 

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Losses Value Losses Value Losses

U.S. agency mortgage-backed
securities available-for-sale -$                -$                45,612$          (470)$              45,612$          (470)$             

Less than 12 months 12 months or more Total

Unrealized losses on mortgage-backed securities have not been recognized into income 
as management does not intend to sell, and it is likely that management will not be 
required to sell, the securities prior to their anticipated recovery. Also, the decline in fair 
value is largely due to changes in interest rates and other market conditions. The issuers 
continue to make timely principal and interest payments. 
 
Non-Marketable Securities 
 
Non-marketable equity securities consist of an investment in capital stock of a privately 
held trust bank without a readily determinable fair value. The Company purchased this 
investment during 2022 for $1,093,075. During the year ended December 31, 2024, an 
additional $100,000 was invested. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company’s 
non-marketable equity securities had a carrying value of $1,193,075 and $1,093,075, 
respectively. The Company owns 12.5% of the trust bank. There were no upward or 
downward adjustments to the Company’s non-marketable securities and there were no 
realized or unrealized gains or losses on non-marketable equity securities during the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS 
 
Major classifications of loans and financings are as follows: 
 

December 31,
2024 2023

Commercial 39,014,391$    42,508,054$    
Commercial real estate 117,731,758   115,018,496   
Residential real estate 616,089,724   571,646,526   
Consumer 9,504,957       4,624,005       
Credit cards 33,809            50,380            

     Gross loans and financings 782,374,639   733,847,461   

Allowance for credit losses (5,082,605)      (4,429,843)      
Unamortized premium on residential

real estate loans 333,798          256,272          

     Net loans and financings 777,625,832$  729,673,890$  

Allowance for Credit Losses – Loans and Financings 
 
The following table summarizes the activity related to the allowance for credit losses for 
the year ended December 31: 
 

 Commercial Retail Total

Balance, beginning of year 900,450$         3,529,393$      4,429,843$      
Provision charged to operations 128,667          545,968          674,635          
Recoveries credited to allowance -                 17,576            17,576            
Charge-offs -                 (39,449) (39,449)

Balance, end of year 1,029,117$      4,053,488$      5,082,605$      
 

 Commercial Retail Unallocated Total

2024

2023

 
Balance, beginning of year 444,609$         1,272,889$      1,842,507$       3,560,005$      
Adjustment to allowance for adoption

of ASU 2016-13 277,157          1,565,350       (1,842,507)       -                  
Provision charged to operations 178,684          719,976          -                   898,660          
Recoveries credited to allowance -                 20,700            -                   20,700            
Charge-offs -                 (49,522) -                   (49,522)

Balance, end of year 900,450$         3,529,393$      -$                  4,429,843$      
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
Collateral Dependent Loans and Financings 
 
The Company has certain loans and financings for which repayment is dependent upon 
the operation or sale of collateral, as the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The 
underlying collateral can vary based upon the type of loan or financing. The following 
provides more detail about the types of collateral that secure collateral dependent loans 
and financings. 
 

• Commercial loans and financings are typically secured by business assets or 
business owner assets. 

• Commercial real estate loans and financings can be secured by either owner-
occupied commercial real estate or non-owner-occupied investment commercial 
real estate. Typically, owner occupied commercial real estate loans and 
financings are secured by office buildings, warehouses, manufacturing facilities 
and other commercial and industrial properties occupied by operating 
companies. Non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans and financings 
are generally secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, 
multifamily complexes, land under development, industrial properties, as well as 
other commercial or industrial real estate. 

• Consumer loans and financings are generally secured by automobiles, 
motorcycles, recreational vehicles and other personal property. Some consumer 
loans and financings are unsecured and have no underlying collateral. 

• Residential real estate loans and financings, and home equity lines of credit are 
typically secured by first or second mortgages. 

 
The following table details the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans and 
financings: 
 

2024 2023
Commercial -$                 -$                  
Commercial real estate 174,076          391,044           
Consumer/credit card -                 -                   
Residential real estate 2,322,139       2,589,405        

Total 2,496,215$      2,980,449$       
 

December 31,
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
Credit Quality 
 
The following tables present informative data by class of loan and financing regarding 
their age and interest or financing income accrual status: 
 

December 31, 2024 Current 30-59 Days 60-89 Days ≥ 90 Days

 Commercial 38,984,255$   30,136$          -$                -$                30,136$          39,014,391$     
 Commercial real estate 117,557,814  173,944 - - 173,944 117,731,758    
 Consumer 9,470,131     34,826 - - 34,826 9,504,957        
 Credit card 33,809          - - - - 33,809             
 Residential real estate 610,262,158  4,148,208     431,970 1,247,388 5,827,566     616,089,724    

      Total  776,308,167$ 4,387,114$     431,970$        1,247,388$     6,066,472$     782,374,639$    

Total Loans and 
Financings

Total Past 
Due

Past Due

 

December 31, 2023 Current 30-59 Days 60-89 Days ≥ 90 Days

 Commercial 42,496,497$   11,557$          -$                -$                11,557$          42,508,054$     
 Commercial real estate 114,725,218  175,668 117,610 - 293,278 115,018,496    
 Consumer 4,623,642     363 - - 363 4,624,005        
 Credit card 50,380          - - - - 50,380             
 Residential real estate 566,654,103  170,484        - 4,821,939 4,992,423     571,646,526    

      Total  728,549,840$ 358,072$        117,610$        4,821,939$     5,297,621$     733,847,461$    

Past Due
Total Loans and 

Financings
Total Past 

Due

 
Included in the residential real estate loans and financings past due over 90 days are  
$-0- and $3,861,742 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, of delinquent 
residential loans that the Company has the option to buy back as further discussed in 
Note 1. The principal balances of these loans are fully guaranteed by GNMA. 
 
The following tables are a summary of the Company's nonaccrual loans and financings 
by major categories: 
 

Nonaccrual Nonaccrual
Loans and Loans and Total

Financings With Financings With Nonaccrual
 No Allowance an Allowance Loans

Commercial -$                -$                -$                
Commercial real estate -                -                -                
Consumer/credit card -                -                -                
Residential real estate 883,016        364,372 1,247,388     

Total 883,016$        364,372$        1,247,388$     
 

December 31, 2024
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 

Nonaccrual Nonaccrual
Loans and Loans and Total

Financings With Financings With Nonaccrual
 No Allowance an Allowance Loans

Commercial -$                -$                -$                
Commercial real estate -                -                -                
Consumer/credit card -                -                -                
Residential real estate 260,665        699,532 960,197        

Total 260,665$        699,532$        960,197$        
 

December 31, 2023

 
At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had no loans and financings held for 
sale or assignment that were on nonaccrual status. The Company did not recognize any 
significant interest and financing income on nonaccrual loans and financings during the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, nor did the Company write off any significant 
accrued interest and financing income receivable during the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023. 
 
The Company has a grading system to help evaluate and classify the Company’s loan 
and financing portfolio with respect to credit quality and risk. 
 
The Company reviews commercial loans and financings on a regular basis and 
categorizes those loans and financings into risk categories based on relevant 
information about the ability of the customers to service their loan or financings, 
including financial information, payment experience, credit documentation, public 
information, and current economic trends.  
 
Commercial loans and financings that are considered to be of lesser quality are 
considered substandard, doubtful, or loss (classified). The Company considers a loan or 
financing substandard when there is an inadequate primary or secondary source of 
repayment, hence inadequately protected by the current net worth and financial capacity 
of the borrower or of the collateral pledged, if any. Substandard loans and financings 
include those in which there is the distinct possibility that the Company will sustain some 
loss of principal if the deficiencies are not corrected. Loans and financings that are 
classified as doubtful have all of the weaknesses inherent in those loans and financings 
that are classified substandard, but also have the added characteristic that the 
weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, 
conditions, and values, highly questionable and improbable. Loans and financings 
classified as loss, are those considered uncollectible and of such little value that their 
continuance as an asset is not warranted, and the uncollectible amounts are charged off.  
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 
Loans and financings that do not expose the Company to risk sufficient to warrant 
classification in one of the aforementioned categories, but which possess some 
weakness, are designated as special mention. A special mention loan or financing has a 
potential weakness that deserves close attention. If left uncorrected, these potential 
weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in 
the Company’s credit position at some future date. Special mention assets are not 
adversely classified and do not expose the Company to sufficient risks to warrant 
classification. Special mention loans and financings are included with substandard 
performing loans and financings in the following table. Commercial loans and financings 
not meeting the above criteria are considered to be pass rated loans and financings. 
 
For residential real estate and consumer loans and financings, the Company uses 
payment status to monitor the credit risk in these loans and financings. Substandard 
loans and financings are those that are ninety days or more past due. Residential real 
estate and consumer loans and financings that don’t meet these criteria are considered 
performing. 
 
The following tables present the Company's recorded investment in loans and financings 
by credit quality indicators by year of origination as of December 31:  
 

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 Prior Revolving Total
Commercial Real Estate

Pass 24,573,372$    28,098,927$    24,510,307$     17,896,061$    7,485,546$     13,077,399$   -$                 115,641,612$   
Classified - performing -                 -                 522,825           405,920          -                1,161,401     -                 2,090,146        
Classified - nonperforming -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Doubtful -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Loss -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Commercial Real Estate 24,573,372$    28,098,927$    25,033,132$     18,301,981$    7,485,546$     14,238,800$   -$                 117,731,758$   

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

Commercial 
Pass 16,355,311$    20,752,296$    1,002,556$       143,869$         312,119$        372,555$        -$                 38,938,706$     
Classified - performing 19,541            -                 -                   -                  14,705          41,439          -                 75,685             
Classified - nonperforming -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Doubtful -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Loss -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Commercial 16,374,852$    20,752,296$    1,002,556$       143,869$         326,824$        413,994$        -$                 39,014,391$     

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

Residential Real Estate
Performing 31,083,468$    101,365,459$  260,497,721$   16,004,336$    5,815,786$     4,354,278$     190,464,716$  609,585,764$   
Substandard -                 198,287 2,041,265        579,339          1,215,042     2,470,027     -                 6,503,960        

Total Residential Real Estate 31,083,468$    101,563,746$  262,538,986$   16,583,675$    7,030,828$     6,824,305$     190,464,716$  616,089,724$   

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 39,449$            -$                 -$                -$                -$                 39,449$            

Consumer/Credit Card
Performing 6,536,038$      2,375,892$      554,762$          -$                 18,238$          20,027$          33,809$           9,538,766$       
Substandard -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Consumer/Credit Card 6,536,038$      2,375,892$      554,762$          -$                 18,238$          20,027$          33,809$           9,538,766$       

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

Term Loans and Financings by Year of Origination
2024
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NOTE 3 – LOANS AND FINANCINGS (Continued) 
 

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 Prior Revolving Total
Commercial Real Estate

Pass 33,069,153$    30,315,719$    24,831,284$     7,831,218$      7,802,946$     10,513,749$   -$                 114,364,069$   
Classified - performing -                 175,133          -                   16,346            -                462,948        -                 654,427           
Classified - nonperforming -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Doubtful -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Loss -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Commercial Real Estate 33,069,153$    30,490,852$    24,831,284$     7,847,564$      7,802,946$     10,976,697$   -$                 115,018,496$   

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

Commercial 
Pass 21,612,573$    19,072,338$    425,842$          774,163$         265,216$        357,922$        -$                 42,508,054$     
Classified - performing -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Classified - nonperforming -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Doubtful -                 -                 -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   
Loss -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Commercial 21,612,573$    19,072,338$    425,842$          774,163$         265,216$        357,922$        -$                 42,508,054$     

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

Residential Real Estate
Performing 113,202,866$  284,494,867$  16,513,439$     6,550,008$      905,972$        4,298,102$     140,125,683$  566,090,937$   
Substandard 200,829          1,145,696 -                   1,236,037       446,824        2,526,203     -                 5,555,589        

Total Residential Real Estate 113,403,695$  285,640,563$  16,513,439$     7,786,045$      1,352,796$     6,824,305$     140,125,683$  571,646,526$   

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 49,522$            -$                 -$                -$                -$                 49,522$            

Consumer/Credit Card
Performing 3,481,795$      1,094,616$      -$                  21,306$           26,288$          -$                50,380$           4,674,385$       
Substandard -                 - -                   -                  -                -                -                 -                   

Total Consumer/Credit Card 3,481,795$      1,094,616$      -$                  21,306$           26,288$          -$                50,380$           4,674,385$       

Current period gross write-offs -$                 -$                 -$                  -$                 -$                -$                -$                 -$                  

2023
Term Loans and Financings by Year of Origination

 
Modifications Made to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty 
 
The allowance for credit losses incorporates an estimate of lifetime expected credit 
losses and is recorded on each asset upon asset origination or acquisition. The starting 
point for the estimate of the allowance for credit losses is historical loss information, 
which includes losses from modifications of receivables to borrowers experiencing 
financial difficulty. An assessment of whether a borrower is experiencing financial 
difficulty is made on the date of a modification. Because the effect of most modifications 
made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance 
for credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the 
allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon 
modification. In some cases, the Company will modify a certain loan or financing by 
providing multiple types of concessions, typically term extension or interest rate 
reduction. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company did not 
have a significant amount of loan or financing modifications for borrowers experiencing 
financial difficulty. 
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NOTE 4 – MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES 

University Bank provides sub-servicing of real estate mortgage loans for over 300 
financial institutions. The unpaid principal balance of these loans was approximately 
$30.6 billion and $30.5 billion as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
value of the mortgage servicing rights associated with these sub-serviced loans belong 
to the customer and therefore are not included in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.  

University Bank, Hyrex, and UIF sell residential mortgage loans and financings to the 
secondary market with servicing rights retained for selected loans and financings. These 
loans and financings are owned by other institutions and are not included in the 
Company’s consolidated balance sheets, but the associated MSRs are included in the 
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Such mortgage loans and financings 
have been sold or assigned generally without recourse or with limited recourse. The 
unpaid principal balance of these loans and financings was $4.4 billion and $3.9 billion at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Custodial escrow balances maintained in connection with these loans and financings 
were approximately $402 million and $417 million, of which approximately $83 million 
and $85 million were held at other banks and were not included in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The following summarizes the activity relating to MSR’s: 

December 31,
2024 2022

Balance, January 1 40,530,048$   32,970,830$   
Amount capitalized 8,674,975     9,253,352     
Change in fair value due to:

Pay-offs and pay-downs (3,671,118)  (2,046,941)    
Changes in market conditions 1,412,136   352,807   

Balance, December 31 46,946,041$   40,530,048$   

 
The Company enters into IRLCs in connection with its mortgage banking activities to 
fund residential mortgage loans and financings within specified times in the future. 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, IRLCs amounted to approximately $39.8 
million and $41.9 million, respectively, of which management estimated approximately 
$36.3 million and $35.6 million, respectively, to eventually close and be funded. These 
IRLCs were recorded in assets in the consolidated balance sheets at a fair value of 
$430,919 and $986,989 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
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NOTE 4 – MORTGAGE BANKING ACTIVITIES (Continued) 

The Company also utilizes forward loan and financing sales commitments in order to 
economically hedge the risk of potential changes in the value of the loans and financings 
that would result from the IRLCs. Forward sales commitments to fund loans and 
financings at specified rates amounted to approximately $89.3 million and $93.8 million 
as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. These forward commitments were 
recorded in the consolidated balance sheet at a fair value in assets of $419,395 as of 
December 31, 2024 and in liabilities of $825,479 as of December 31, 2023.  

The net change in fair value of the IRLCs and the related forward loan and financing 
sales commitments held at December 31, 2024 resulted in a gain of $688,804 and at 
December 31, 2023 resulted in a loss of $1,407,319, which have been recognized in the 
noninterest income section in the consolidated statements of operations. These gains 
and losses are due principally to the inclusion of day one gains/losses associated with 
the adoption of fair value accounting as discussed in Note 24.  

Market interest rate conditions can quickly affect the fair value of MSRs, IRLCs, and 
forward loan and financing sales commitments in a positive or negative fashion, as long-
term interest rates rise and fall. See Note 24 for further discussion of management’s 
assumptions used in determination of fair value of these assets and liabilities.  

NOTE 5 – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

Premises and equipment consist of the following: 

December 31,
2024 2023

Land 1,520,363$     1,043,400$     
Buildings and improvements 7,593,074     7,293,947     
Furniture, fixtures, equipment and software 18,062,120   15,525,755   
Construction in process 53,212      741,284        

27,228,769   24,604,386   
Less accumulated depreciation and

amortization (17,862,127)  (16,150,698)  

Premises and equipment, net 9,366,642$     8,453,688$     

Depreciation and amortization expense related to premises and equipment amounted to 
$1,711,429 and $1,644,731 for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 



UNIVERSITY BANCORP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
December 31, 2024 and 2023 
 
 

 Page 41

NOTE 5 – PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT, NET (Continued) 
 
Leases 
 
The Company leases office space for its operations under operating leases. Several 
leases have an option to renew at the Company’s discretion for an additional term. Only 
lease options that the Company believes are reasonably certain to be exercised are 
included in the measurement of lease assets and liabilities. The Company’s present 
leases have a weighted average remaining term of 6.4 years.  
 
During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded $288,544 
and $1,909,222, respectively of operating lease right of use assets obtained in exchange 
for operating lease liabilities. 
 
Maturities of operating lease liabilities for office space are as follows: 
 

Years ending December 31, Amount

2025 836,256$        
2026 719,654        
2027 692,594        
2028 688,952        
2029 496,866        

Thereafter 1,071,593     

Total minimum future payments 4,505,915     
Less: Present value discount (732,468)       

Present value of operating lease liabilities 3,773,447$     

 
The weighted average discount rate used to calculate the present value of future lease 
payments was 5.8%. Operating lease expense for the years ended December 31, 2024 
and 2023 totaled $1,262,986 and $1,198,876, respectively. These operating lease 
expense amounts include short-term and variable lease expense. 
 

 
NOTE 6 – DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS HEDGES – INTEREST RATE SWAP 
 
The Company utilizes an interest rate swap agreement as part of its asset liability 
management strategy to help manage its interest rate risk position. The notional amount 
of the interest rate swap does not represent amounts exchanged by the parties. The 
amount exchanged is determined by reference to the notional amount and the other 
terms of the individual interest rate swap agreement. 
 
This interest rate swap was entered into during the year ended December 31, 2023, and 
is designated as a cash flow hedge of certain unsecured debt. This cash flow hedge was 
determined to be effective during all periods presented in the consolidated financial 
statements and is expected to remain effective during the remaining term of the swap.  
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NOTE 6 – DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS HEDGES – INTEREST RATE SWAP 
     (Continued) 

 
As disclosed in Note 21, the Company has unsecured debt totaling $28,000,000 that 
accrues interest at a fixed rate through January 31, 2028, and at an adjusting rate 
thereafter until maturity. To minimize the effect of changes in adjusting interest rates, the 
Company entered into the interest rate swap agreement under which it pays interest 
quarterly at a fixed 3.21% rate and receives interest quarterly at the Secured Overnight 
Financing Rate (“SOFR”) on the notional amount of $28,000,000 (the SOFR was 4.49% 
at December 31, 2023) commencing January 31, 2028 up to January 31, 2033. 
 
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the interest rate swap was 
determined to be an asset of $889,071 and $-0-, respectively. During the years ended 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the change in fair value of the interest rate swap totaled a 
gain of $889,071 and $-0-, respectively, and was recorded in other comprehensive 
income.  
 
The Company did not have any fair value hedges during the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023.  
 
 
NOTE 7 – GOODWILL 
 
The following table summarizes goodwill by reporting unit: 
 

December 31,
2024 2023

Hyrex -$                103,914$        
AAIC 319,067        319,067        

319,067$        422,981$        

 
During the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company recorded goodwill 
impairment totaling $103,914 and $-0-, respectively. 
 
 
NOTE 8 – CUSTOMER RELATIONSHIPS, NET 
 
During 2020, AAIC acquired customer relationships of $620,691 as part of the 
acquisition of a local insurance agency. These customer relationships are being 
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated economic lives, which were 
determined to be 10 years. Amortization expense amounted to $62,068 for each of the 
years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The carrying value of customer 
relationships totaled $320,693 and $382,761 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. 
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NOTE 9 – TIME DEPOSITS 
 
Non-brokered time deposit liabilities issued in denominations of $250,000 or more were 
$22,576,232 and $12,589,215 at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
At December 31, 2024, stated maturities of time deposits were: 
 

Years ending December 31, Brokered time

2025 48,808,225$   19,950,000$      
2026 4,516,699     44,859,000       
2027 2,156,836     64,900,000       
2028 834,391        113,475,000     

2029 and thereafter 1,284,149     -                    

 57,600,300$   243,184,000$     

Non-brokered 
time

 
 
NOTE 10 – DEFERRED COMPENSATION  
 
The Company had a deferred compensation agreement (the “Agreement”) with one of its 
key employees that provided this employee with a phantom interest in the net income of 
a subsidiary based on years of service. During 2022 the Agreement was dissolved. In 
relation to the Agreement, the Company recognized compensation expense of $4,257 
during the year ended December 31, 2022, and had remaining unpaid accrued deferred 
compensation of $4,246,666 as of December 31, 2022, that was paid in full during 2023.  
 
 
NOTE 11 – CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION LIABILITY 
 
The Company has a contingent consideration agreement as part of a 2019 acquisition, 
which could require the Company to pay the former owner annually through 2025 if 
certain loan production thresholds are met. The fair value of the contingent consideration 
liability related to the acquisition was $-0- as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. No 
contingent consideration payments were made during the years ended December 31, 
2024 and 2023. 
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NOTE 12 – INCOME TAXES 

Income tax expense (benefit) is summarized as follows: 

December 31,
2024 2023

Current expense (benefit)
Federal 16,692$        149,665$      
State 200,991 108,802

217,683 258,467

Deferred expense (benefit)
Federal 2,459,052$   1,539,084$   
State 85,499 473,356

2,544,551 2,012,440

Income tax expense, net 2,762,234$   2,270,907$   

The effective tax rate varies from the current U.S. federal statutory income tax rate as 
follows: 

Year ended December 31,
2024 2023

Statutory rate 21.0% 21.0%
State income taxes 1.5% 2.4%
Permanent differences -1.1% -0.9%
Investment tax credits -3.1% 0.0%
Change in expected rate of realization 

of deferred state income taxes 0.0% 2.7%
Other 0.6% -0.2%

Effective rate 18.9% 25.0%

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company determined that the rate at 
which it expects to realize its deferred state income taxes has increased, resulting in an 
increase to the deferred tax liability and tax expense of $244,622. 
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NOTE 12 – INCOME TAXES (Continued) 
 
Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
consist of the following: 

December 31,
2024 2023

Deferred income tax assets:
Allowance for credit losses 

and recourse liabilities 1,122,190$      988,685$         
Equity securities 726,860 171,166
Tax credits 1,362,003 -
Other 230,613 191,824

3,441,666 1,351,675      

Deferred income tax liabilities:
Mortgage and financing servicing rights (10,797,589) (9,321,911)
Derivatives and LHFS (456,954) (465,780)
Derivatives designated as hedges (204,486) -
Premises and equipment (709,194) (487,539)
Other (4,091) (3,068)

(12,172,314) (10,278,298)   

Net deferred tax liability (8,730,648)$    (8,926,623)$    

The Company files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state 
jurisdictions. The Company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local income 
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before calendar year 2021. 
 
Investment in Tax Credit Structure 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company entered into a $3,450,000 
commitment to invest in a solar tax credit structure. During the year ended December 
31, 2024, the Company invested in $3,002,743 of this commitment. At December 31, 
2024 the balance of the unamortized investment in the solar tax credit structure was 
$61,463 which is included in “other assets” in the December 31, 2023 consolidated 
balance sheet. Total unfunded commitments related to the investment in the solar tax 
credit structure totaled $447,257 at December 31, 2024. The Company expects to fulfill 
this commitment during the year ending December 31, 2025.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized amortization 
expense of $2,941,280 which was included in income tax expense in the 2024 
consolidated statement of operations. 
 
Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recognized tax 
credits and other benefits from its investment in the tax credit structure of $3,387,285. 
The Company has not incurred any impairment losses related to these tax credits. 
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NOTE 13 – CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK 
 
The Company had 24,000 shares of convertible preferred stock outstanding at 
December 31, 2022. On December 20, 2023, the Company triggered the conversion of 
the 24,000 preferred shares into 240,000 common shares. These 240,000 common 
shares were issued out of treasury shares. On the conversion date, the liquidation value 
of these preferred shares totaled $2,400,000 and the carrying value totaled $2,280,000. 
The Company had no outstanding preferred shares at December 31, 2023 or during the 
year ended December 31, 2024. 
 
The preferred stock had a liquidation preference over common stock and the preferred 
shares had a $100 per share liquidation value, on which cumulative dividends accrued at 
6% per annum, payable quarterly. If the tangible book value of the Company, as defined 
in the preferred stock certificate of designation, reached at least seven times the value of 
the liquidation value of preferred shares, the 6% preferred dividends became 
noncumulative and were to be paid quarterly only if declared by the Company’s Board of 
Directors. The Company couldn’t declare or pay dividends to any other classes of stock 
until the cumulative preferred dividends were paid, along with any noncumulative 
preferred dividends declared. 
 
Each share of preferred stock could be converted into common stock initially at a rate of 
$10 preferred stock liquidation value per common share. The conversion price was 
subject to certain antidilution provisions as defined in the stock certificate designation. 
Beginning December 20, 2023, the Company could cause some or all of the preferred 
stock to be converted into common stock at the then prevailing conversion price, if the 
closing price of the Company’s common stock exceeded 130% of the then applicable 
conversion price for twenty out of thirty consecutive trading days. The holder was also 
prevented from exercising the conversion right if, after the conversion, it resulted in the 
holder owning more than one third of the Company’s outstanding equity.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2023, preferred dividends of $411,372 were paid 
out, of which $270,972 were accrued in the consolidated balance sheet at December 31, 
2022. 
 
 
NOTE 14 – TREASURY STOCK 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased 441,381 
common shares at an aggregate cost of $3,994,498. These treasury stock shares are 
recorded at cost in the consolidated statement of equity. The Company reissued -0- and 
240,000 shares out of treasury during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. In 2023, the shares were issued upon the conversion of preferred shares. 
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NOTE 15 – NONCONTROLLING INTEREST 
 
Included in the consolidated financial statements are the results for UIF. The Bank owns 
80% of the common stock of UIF. An outside investor owns the remaining 20%. At 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, total equity of UIF was $59,807,703 and $53,054,118, 
respectively. The noncontrolling interest at December 31, 2024 and 2032 was 
$11,961,541 and $10,610,825, respectively.  
 
 
NOTE 16 – EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share: 
 

Years ended December 31, 
2024 2023

Basic earnings per share
Net income attributable to stockholders 10,467,383$   5,426,558$     
Less: cumulative dividends on 

preferred stock - (140,400)
Net income attributable to 

common stockholders 10,467,383$   5,286,158$     

Weighted-average common 
shares outstanding 5,169,518 4,936,751     

 
Basic earnings per share 2.02$              1.07$              

Diluted earnings per share
Net income attributable to common 

stockholders - diluted 10,467,383$   5,286,158$     

Weighted-average common 
shares outstanding - basic 5,169,518 4,936,751     

Dilutive effect of stock options - -                

Weighted-average common 
shares outstanding - diluted 5,169,518 4,936,751

 
Diluted earnings per share 2.02$              1.07$              
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NOTE 17 – EMPLOYEE STOCK OWNERSHIP AND RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN 

The Bank has an employee stock ownership and retirement savings plan (the “Plan”) 
that allows employees of the Bank and the Bank’s subsidiaries to contribute a portion of 
their salary pre-tax, to the allowable limit prescribed by the Internal Revenue Service 
(the “401(k) Component”). Management has discretion to make matching contributions 
to the Plan. All amounts have been funded or accrued at each respective balance sheet 
date. Matching contributions for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 totaled 
$1,426,768 and $1,307,724, respectively.  

The Company may also make discretionary contributions to the employee stock 
ownership component (the “ESOP Component”). A participant’s share in the Company’s 
ESOP contribution is based on his or her current compensation as a percentage of total 
employee compensation. Upon retirement from the Company, participants can receive 
distributions of their allocated shares of the Company’s stock. At December 31, 2024, 
the Company had accrued $177,204, which is expected to be contributed to the ESOP in 
2025. At December 31, 2023, the Company had accrued $-0-. Compensation expense 
related to the ESOP contributions amounted to $275,356 and $-0-, during the years 
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  

The annual contribution to the ESOP is at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 
Assets of the ESOP include 239,003 shares of the Company’s stock at December 31, 
2024 and 2023, respectively, all of which were fully allocated. The shares of the ESOP 
are held in trust and were valued at $3,943,550 and $3,585,045 at December 31, 2024 
and 2023, respectively.  

NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Commitments 

The Bank is party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal 
course of business to meet the financing needs of its customers. These financial 
instruments include commitments to fund lines of credit and credit card limits. The 
Bank’s exposure to credit loss in the event of non-performance is equal to or less than 
the contractual amount of these instruments. The Bank follows the same credit policy to 
make such commitments as that followed by loans recorded in the consolidated financial 
statements.  
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NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 
 
Commitments (Continued) 
 
The following is a summary of commitments: 
 

December 31,
2024 2023

Unused lines of credit 51,860,754$    94,237,445$    
Commitment to fund residential loans 90,806,411     52,932,458     
Commitment to fund commercial loans 8,637,299       3,763,054       
Unused credit card limits 406,380          168,879          
Unused home equity lines of credit 73,813,806     58,418,195     
Unused commitments for residential 

construction 13,190,717     18,081,463     

238,715,367$   227,601,494$   

 
Loss Reserves 
 
Crescent is a participant in a quota share reinsurance agreement with other unrelated 
captive insurance companies collectively referred to as the “Pool”. The reinsurance 
agreement is between Crescent and each Pool participant. The quota share participation 
percentage includes a portion of Crescent’s own ceded Pool premium. The premium 
ceded by Crescent is then pooled with the ceded premiums from all other participating 
captives and redistributed back to each captive as assumed premium according to its 
participation percentage. Ceded and assumed losses are treated in the same manner. 
The reinsured claims are subject to per occurrence limits up to $1,500,000, excess 
varying deductibles, and aggregate limits up to $3,500,000 per participant. The policies 
are written on a claims-made basis of coverage within the policy year and include a 60-
day extended reporting period. 
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NOTE 18 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 
 
Loss Reserves (Continued) 
 
The liability for loss and loss adjustment expense reserves represents the estimated 
ultimate net cost of all reported and unreported losses incurred through the balance 
sheet date. The loss reserves are estimated on an undiscounted basis, using individual 
case-basis valuations and statistical analyses utilizing actuarial studies of Crescent’s 
historical experience and industry data. In establishing its aggregate liability for loss and 
loss adjustment expenses, the Company utilizes the findings of an independent 
consulting actuary. The principal methodologies utilized by the actuary are the loss 
development method and the Bornhuetter-Ferguson method. Crescent projects an 
estimate of ultimate loss and loss adjustment expenses at each reporting date. Although 
considerable variability is inherent in such estimates, management believes the loss 
reserves are adequate. The estimates are continually reviewed and adjusted as 
necessary as experience develops or new information becomes known. Such 
adjustments are included in current operations. However, because of uncertainty 
associated with the limited population of insured risks, current economic conditions, 
judicial decisions, legislation and other matters, actual loss experience may not conform 
to the assumptions used in determining the estimated amounts for such liabilities at the 
balance sheet date. Accordingly, the ultimate liability could be significantly in excess of 
or less than the amount indicated in the financial statements. 
 
Crescent’s loss and loss adjustment expense reserves at December 31, 2024 and 2023 
totaled $106,000 and $54,000, respectively, and are included in accrued expenses and 
other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. Crescent commenced operations in 
March 2023. 
 
Contingencies 
 
The Company from time to time may maintain cash balances with other financial 
institutions in excess of insured limits. Management has deemed this as a normal 
business risk. 
 
The Company has been party to various legal claims that have arisen from time to time 
in the normal course of business. Any impact of these legal claims has been reflected in 
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTE 19 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
Available lines of credit to directors, officers and their affiliates at both December 31, 
2024 and 2023 amounted to $90,000 and $70,000, respectively, of which $15,171 and 
$17,062 had been borrowed against, respectively. The Company has closed and sold 
related party loans during the normal course of business. These loans were performing 
pursuant to terms at December 31, 2024 and 2023. 
 
The Bank had demand deposits of $1,363,992 and $1,576,980 from directors, officers 
and their affiliates as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The Bank also holds 
demand deposits from various employees in the normal course of business.  
 
 
NOTE 20 – LINES OF CREDIT 
 
The Bank has a line of credit available from the FHLB. The limit on this line is 
$25,000,000 and $9,000,000 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The line 
is secured by the pledge of specific mortgage loans held for investment along with FHLB 
stock and certain investment securities. At both December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Bank’s outstanding balance on the line was $-0-. This line matures in May 2025. 
 
During 2022, the Parent entered into a $10,000,000 line of credit with a bank with 
interest due quarterly at the prime rate, with a floor of 3.25% and a ceiling of 6.25%. The 
Parent could borrow on this line through October 2024, on which date any outstanding 
balance converted to a term note with payments due quarterly based on a 120-month 
amortization, with a balloon payment due at maturity in October 2025. The line expired in 
October 2024 as the Parent had no outstanding balance on the line. This line was 
secured by certain assets, including a life insurance policy and all outstanding shares of 
common stock of University Bank. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, advances on the 
line totaled $-0- and $1,000,000, respectively. The line was subject to certain restrictive 
financial covenants. 
 
The Company also has a $1,000,000 revolving warehouse line of credit with a bank so 
that UIF could meet a state licensing requirement. The Company does not intend to 
draw on this line. Interest on this line is at the greater of the prime rate or 5%. This line is 
secured by financings and matures in August 2025. At both December 31, 2024 and 
2023, there was no outstanding balance on this line of credit. 
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NOTE 21 – FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK ADVANCES AND OTHER BORROWINGS 
 
FHLB Advances 
 
In addition to the FHLB line of credit discussed in Note 20, the Company regularly 
borrows money from the FHLB on a short-term basis. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
the Company could take advances up to approximately $254,300,000 and 
$189,200,000, respectively. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company had 
amounts due to the FHLB for short-term advances totaling $90,000,000 and 
$105,000,000, respectively. The outstanding advances at December 31, 2024 bore 
interest from 4.48% - 4.67% per annum, and all mature in 2025. The Company had 
additional borrowing capacity under this FHLB advance line of approximately 
$164,300,000 and $84,200,000 as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, which was based 
on qualified collateral, as determined by the FHLB.  
 
Unsecured Debt 
 
At December 31, 2022, the Parent had subordinated debt totaling $14,500,000, and 
during the year ended December 31, 2023 issued additional subordinated debt totaling 
$13,500,000 (collectively, the “2022/2023 Notes”). The 2022/2023 Notes have a maturity 
date of January 31, 2033, and bear interest at 8.25% through January 31, 2028, and at a 
variable rate tied to SOFR thereafter until maturity. Principal is due at maturity, and 
interest is due semi-annually. The Company has the option to redeem all or a part of the 
2022/2023 Notes beginning on January 31, 2028, or earlier in the event of a Tier 2 
Capital Event, Tax Event, or Investment Company Event, as defined in the 2022/2023 
Notes. The outstanding principal balance of the 2022/2023 Notes totaled $28,000,000 at 
both December 31, 2024 and 2023.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2024, the Parent issued additional unsecured debt 
totaling $15,000,000 (the “2024 Notes”). The 2024 Notes bear interest at 9.25% through 
the maturity date of January 31, 2030 and are senior unsecured debt. Principal is due at 
maturity, and interest is due semi-annually. The Company has the option to redeem all 
or a part of the 2024 Notes beginning on January 31, 2028, as defined in the 2024 
Notes. The outstanding principal balance of the 2024 Notes totaled $15,000,000 and 
$-0- at December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 2022/2023 Notes are 
subordinated to the 2024 Notes in priority of repayment. 
 
In conjunction with the issuance of the 2022/2023 Notes and the 2024 Notes, the 
Company incurred debt issuance costs which are amortized to interest expense over the 
term of the respective notes. As a result, the carrying value of the outstanding unsecured 
debt amounted to $42,063,705 and $27,403,539 in the consolidated balance sheet at 
December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 
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NOTE 22 – REGULATORY MATTERS 
 
Dividend Restriction 
 
Banking regulations require the maintenance of certain capital levels and limits the 
amount of dividends that may be paid by a bank to a holding company or by a holding 
company to shareholders. The Bank paid dividends to University Bancorp, Inc. totaling 
$4,840,000 and $681,000 during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, 
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2024, University Bancorp, Inc. also 
made contributions to the Bank totaling $1,709,718. University Bancorp, Inc. declared 
common stock dividends totaling $1,550,856 and $-0- during the years ended December 
31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.  
 
Regulatory Capital Requirements 
 
The Bank is subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the 
federal banking agencies. Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate 
certain mandatory and possibly additional, discretionary actions by regulators that, if 
undertaken, could have a direct material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements. Under capital adequacy guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt 
corrective action, the Bank must meet specific capital guidelines that involve quantitative 
measures of the Bank’s assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as 
calculated under regulatory accounting practices. The Bank’s capital amounts and 
classification are also subject to qualitative judgments by regulators about components, 
risk weightings, and other factors.  
 
The Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act was passed in 
2018. Included among the provisions was the Community Bank Leverage Ratio 
(“CBLR”), a special alternative capital framework available only to banks holding less 
than $10 billion in assets. On April 6, 2020, the federal banking regulators issued interim 
rules which modified the CBLR framework so that: (i) beginning in the second quarter 
2020 through the end of 2020, a banking organization that has a leverage ratio of 8% or 
greater and meets certain other criteria may elect to use the CBLR framework; and (ii) 
community banking organizations had until January 1, 2022, before the CBLR 
requirement was reestablished at greater than 9%. Under the interim rules, the minimum 
CBLR was 8% beginning in the second quarter and for the remainder of calendar year 
2020, 8.5% for calendar year 2021, and 9% thereafter. The interim rules also maintain a 
two-quarter grace period for a qualifying community banking organization whose 
leverage ratio falls no more than 1% below the applicable community bank leverage 
ratio.  
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NOTE 22 – REGULATORY MATTERS (Continued) 

Regulatory Capital Requirements (Continued) 

The Bank has opted into the CBLR framework. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the 
Bank's CBLR ratio was 10.39% and 10.05%, respectively, which exceeded the 
regulatory capital requirements under the CBLR framework and the Bank was 
considered to be ‘‘well-capitalized”. Federal law requires each federal banking agency to 
take prompt corrective action to resolve the problems of insured financial institutions, 
including but not limited to those that fall below one or more of the prescribed minimum 
capital ratios. As discussed above, a qualifying community banking organization, such 
as the Bank, that opts into the CBLR framework and meets all requirements under the 
framework will be considered to have met the well-capitalized ratio requirements under 
the prompt corrective action regulations and will not be required to report or calculate 
risk-based capital. 

NOTE 23 – OTHER CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS 

The Bank, Hyrex and UIF are each subject to certain capital requirements in connection 
with seller/servicer agreements that these entities have entered into with secondary 
market investors. Failure to maintain minimum capital requirements could result in these 
entities’ inability to originate and service loans for the respective investor and, therefore, 
could have a direct material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

The Bank’s, Hyrex’s and UIF’s actual capital amounts and the minimum amounts 
required for capital adequacy purposes, by investor, are as follows: 

Actual Minimum
Capital Capital

As of December 31, 2024:
Bank

HUD 100,525,997$  2,500,000$     
FHLMC 95,879,139$    14,622,235$   
FNMA 95,879,139$    14,622,235$   
GNMA 111,225,984$  14,684,911$   

Hyrex
HUD 5,095,048$    1,000,000$     
FHLMC 5,245,133$    3,346,631$     
FNMA 5,245,133$    3,346,631$     

UIF
FHLMC 55,119,198$    9,856,539$     
FNMA 55,119,198$    9,856,539$     
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NOTE 23 – OTHER CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS (Continued)  
 

Actual Minimum 
Capital Capital

As of December 31, 2023:
Bank

HUD 89,255,757$    2,500,000$     
FHLMC 100,680,095$  4,201,171$     
FNMA 100,680,095$  3,463,540$     
GNMA 100,575,339$  14,147,227$   

Hyrex
HUD 5,331,057$      1,000,000$     
FHLMC 5,334,586$      2,505,084$     
FNMA 5,334,586$      2,721,126$     

UIF
FHLMC 50,146,079$    6,511,206$     
FNMA 50,146,079$    4,254,321$     

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Bank, Hyrex, and UIF were also each required 
to have a minimum amount of liquid assets under certain liquidity requirements and were 
in compliance with these requirements. 
 
 
NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 
 
The ASC standards establish a fair value hierarchy for valuation inputs that gives the 
highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities and the 
lowest priority to unobservable inputs. Determining which hierarchical level an asset or 
liability falls within requires significant judgment.  
 
Hierarchical levels, as defined by the standards and directly related to the amount of 
subjectivity associated with the inputs to fair valuation of these assets and liabilities, are 
as follows: 

 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for 
similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other 
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for 
substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and 
are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Because valuation methodologies require the use of subjective assumptions, changes in 
these assumptions can materially affect fair value. Furthermore, the reported fair value 
amounts have not been comprehensively revalued since the presentation dates, and 
therefore, estimates of fair value after the balance sheet date may differ significantly 
from the amounts presented herein. A description of the valuation methodologies used 
by the Company for instruments measured at fair value, as well as the general 
classification of such instruments pursuant to the valuation hierarchy, is set forth below.  
 
Investment Securities 
 
The fair value of the securities represents the amount the Company would realize upon 
sale of the securities currently in the portfolio. The Company receives current fair values 
of its marketable debt securities from The Federal Home Loan Bank on a monthly basis 
as part of its collateral positions. These marketable debt securities are Level 2 assets in 
the valuation hierarchy. The Company determines the fair value of its marketable equity 
securities using quoted prices in active markets. Hence, these marketable equity 
securities are Level 1 assets in the valuation hierarchy. The Company determines the 
fair value of its non-marketable equity securities using a price-based methodology, which 
utilizes, where available, quoted prices or other market information obtained from recent 
trading activity in positions with the same or similar characteristics to the position being 
valued, along with quantitative assessments of the fair value of securities using various 
valuation methodologies and involves the use of estimates. Hence, these non-
marketable equity securities are Level 3 assets in the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Loans and Financings Held for Sale or Assignment  
 
The Company elected to account for certain loans and financings held for sale or 
assignment at fair value. These loans and financings held for sale or assignment are 
recorded at fair value based on quoted market prices, where available, or are 
determined by discounting cash flows using interest rates approximating the Company’s 
current origination rates for similar loans and financings and adjusted to reflect the 
inherent credit risk. In most situations, these loans and financings are locked into 
buckets to be sold under forward loan and financing sales commitments (as discussed 
below), in which case the fair value of these loans and financings held for sale or 
assignment are approximated by the value to be received soon thereafter under the 
forward sales commitments. Loans and financings held for sale or assignment are Level 
2 assets in the valuation hierarchy. Net changes in the fair value of the Company’s loans 
and financings held for sale or assignment are included in earnings. The net change in 
fair value of loans and financings held for sale or assignment at December 31, 2024 and 
2023 was a gain of $1,136,443 and $1,863,623, respectively, which is included in the 
noninterest income section in the consolidated statements of operations. 
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
MSRs 
 
The fair value of MSRs represents the amount that the Company would receive upon the 
sale of the MSRs. The Company receives an independent valuation of its MSRs on a 
quarterly basis. The fair value of MSRs is determined by projecting cash flows which are 
then discounted to estimate an expected fair value. The fair value of MSRs is impacted 
by a variety of quantitative factors (including a range of the assumptions used): expected 
servicing life (3.5-4.3 years), discount rates (9%-11%), float rate (1.5%), servicing costs 
($75-$90), and underlying observable portfolio characteristics. Because many of these 
inputs are not transparent in market trades, MSRs are Level 3 assets in the valuation 
hierarchy.  
 
Derivatives – IRLCs and Forward Commitments 
 
The Company estimates the fair value of an IRLC subsequent to inception of the 
commitment. In estimating the fair value of an IRLC, the Company assigns a probability 
to the loan or financing commitment based on an expectation that it will be exercised, 
and the loan or financing will be funded. The fair value of IRLCs, while based on interest 
rates observable in the market, is highly dependent on the ultimate closing of the loans 
or financings. These “pull-through” rates are based on the Company’s historical data and 
reflect an estimate of the likelihood that a commitment will ultimately result in a closed 
loan or financing.  
 
Also, the fair value of these commitments is derived from the fair value of the related 
mortgage loans or financings. Unobservable quantitative factors used in the valuation of 
IRLCs include the following (including a range of the assumptions used): pull-through 
rates (63%-99%). Because some inputs are not transparent in market trades, IRLCs are 
Level 3 assets or liabilities in the valuation hierarchy. Changes in the fair value of the 
IRLCs are recognized based on interest rate changes, changes in the probability that the 
commitment will be exercised, and the passage of time. Changes from the expected 
future cash flows related to the customer relationship or loan or financing servicing are 
excluded from the valuation of IRLCs.  
 
The fair value of forward sales commitments is based primarily on the fluctuation of 
interest rates between the date on which the particular forward sales commitment was 
entered into and year end. Unobservable inputs include (including a range of the 
assumptions used): volatility, counterparty credit risk. Forward commitments are 
considered to be Level 3 assets or liabilities in the valuation hierarchy.  
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 

Derivatives Designated As Hedges – Interest Rate Swap 

The Company’s interest rate swap is valued based on models using market interest 
rates, the fixed interest rate on the notional amount of the swap, the floating rate on the 
notional amount, and volatility factors to value the position. The fair value of the interest 
rate swap is determined using quantitative models that utilize multiple market inputs 
(Level 2). The majority of market inputs are actively quoted and can be validated through 
external sources, including brokers, market transactions and third-party pricing services.  

Real Estate Owned 

Real estate properties acquired in collection of a loan or financing are recorded at fair 
value upon foreclosure, establishing a new cost basis. After foreclosure, management 
periodically performs valuations to ensure real estate is carried at lower of cost or fair 
value, less estimated costs to sell. Fair value of the real estate is estimated by 
considering appraisals, which are updated on a periodic basis to reflect current housing 
market conditions.  

Contingent Consideration Liability 

The fair value of the contingent consideration liability is determined by management 
based on projected future originations, which drives the amount of the contingent 
consideration obligation that will actually be paid. As this measure is based on significant 
inputs that are not observable in the market, the Company classifies the contingent 
consideration liabilities within level 3. 
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
The following tables summarize assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, segregated by the level of the 
valuation inputs within the fair value hierarchy utilized to measure fair value: 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
December 31, 2024

Assets:
Investment securities 10,720,133$       2,495,664$        
Loans and financings held 

for sale or assignment 54,659,212$      
Derivatives designated as 

hedges - interest rate swap 889,071$           
Mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 46,946,041$ 
Interest and financing

rate lock commitments 430,919$      
Forward sales commitments 419,395$      

Liabilities:
Contingent consideration -$              

 
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

December 31, 2023
Assets:  

Investment securities 16,803,275$       45,612$             
Loans and financings held 

for sale or assignment 63,883,059$      
Mortgage and financing 

servicing rights 40,530,048$ 
Interest and financing

rate lock commitments 986,989$      

Liabilities:
Forward sales commitments 825,479$      
Contingent consideration -$              
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
The table below includes a roll forward of the fair value of assets and liabilities that are 
classified by the Company within Level 3 of the valuation hierarchy: 
 

Forward Contingent 
Sales Consideration

MSRs IRLCs Commitments Liability

Fair value at January 1, 2023 32,970,830$   664,454$        904,375$        -$             
Purchases, sales, issuances,

settlements, net 9,253,352      (664,454)        (904,375)        -              
Net gains (losses) (1,694,134)     986,989         (825,479)        -              

Fair value December 31, 2023 40,530,048    986,989         (825,479)        -              
Purchases, sales, issuances,

settlements, net 8,674,975      (986,989)        825,479         -              
Net gains (losses) (2,258,982)     430,919         419,395         -              

Fair value December 31, 2024 46,946,041$   430,919$        419,395$        -$             

 
There were no assets or liabilities valued on a nonrecurring basis during the year ended 
December 31, 2024. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the only assets or 
liabilities valued at fair value on a nonrecurring basis was real estate owned which was 
recorded at fair value of $593,478.  
 
The methodologies for estimating the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities 
that are not measured at fair value on a recurring or non-recurring basis are discussed 
below.  
 
The estimated fair value approximates carrying value for cash and cash equivalents, 
FHLB stock, FHLB advances, accounts receivable, and accounts payable. The 
methodologies for other financial assets and financial liabilities are discussed below. 
 
Loans and Financings 
 
The fair value of fixed-rate loans and financings is estimated by discounting the future 
cash flows for each loan and financing category using the current rates at which similar 
loans or financings would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings and for the 
same remaining maturities. These loans and financings are considered to be Level 2 
assets in the valuation hierarchy. The fair value of adjustable-rate loans is assumed to 
approximate their carrying amount.  
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NOTE 24 – FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) 
 
Time Deposits 
 
The fair value of time deposits is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using 
the market rates offered for similar deposits with the same remaining maturities. These 
time deposits are considered to be Level 2 liabilities in the valuation hierarchy. 
 
Unsecured Debt 
 
The fair value of fixed-rate debt is estimated by discounting the future cash flows using 
the current rates at which similar debt would be issued. This debt is considered to be a 
Level 2 liability in the valuation hierarchy.  
 
The estimated fair values of financial instruments in which fair value differs from carrying 
value are as follows (in thousands): 
 

Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value

Significant financial assets:
Securities, at amortized cost 16,593$    15,267$    17,110$    16,301$    
Non-marketable equity securities 1,193        1,193        1,093        1,093        
Loans and financings, net 777,626    763,215    729,674    708,999    

Significant financial liabilities:
Deposits:
   Time 300,784    302,123    285,187    286,758    
Line of credit -            -            1,000        1,000        
Unsecured debt 43,000      43,000      28,000      28,000      

2024 2023
December 31,

 
All other financial instruments not presented in the table above had fair values that did 
not differ from their carrying values. 
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NOTE 25 – SEGMENT INFORMATION 

The Company has one reportable segment, community banking. The Company’s 
reportable segment is determined by Stephen Ranzini, the Chief Executive Officer, who 
is the designated chief operating decision maker (“CODM”), based upon information 
provided about the Company’s products and services offered. The CODM will evaluate 
the financial performance of the Company’s business components by evaluating 
revenue streams, significant expenses, and budget to actual results in assessing the 
Company’s segment. The Company generates revenue primarily by providing banking 
and mortgage services to its customers. Interest and profit-sharing expense, provisions 
for credit losses, and payroll and benefits provide the significant expenses in the 
segment. All operations are domestic. The CODM evaluates performance, allocates 
resources and makes key operating decisions based on consolidated net income that is 
reported in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The measure of segment assets 
is reported in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as total consolidated assets. 
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Forvis Mazars, LLP is an independent member of Forvis Mazars Global Limited 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting  
and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of the Financial 

Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by 
the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards), the consolidated financial 
statements of University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet 
as of December 31, 2024, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income, equity, and cash flows for the year then ended and the related notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 25, 2025. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered University Bank’s (the Bank) 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. Accordingly, 
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management 
or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Bank’s 
financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant 
deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 
material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.



Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Bank’s financial statements are free of 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an 
objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed 
no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of This Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance 
and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal 
control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Bank ’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, 
this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 25, 2025
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Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 
Ann Arbor, Michigan 

Report on Compliance for Each Major HUD Program 

Opinion on Each Major HUD Program 

We have audited University Bank’s (the Bank) compliance with the compliance requirements described in 
the Consolidated Audit Guide for Audits of HUD Programs (the audit guide) that could have a direct and 
material effect on each of the Bank’s major U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 
programs for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Bank’s major HUD programs and the related direct 
and material compliance requirements are as follows: 

Name of Major HUD Programs Direct and Material Compliance Requirements 

GNMA Federal financial reports; eligibility to issue mortgage-
backed securities; review of the custodial documents;
issuer’s administration of pooled mortgages; review of
monthly accounting reports and quarterly submissions;
securities marketing and trading practices; adjusted net 
worth; institution wide capital requirements; and liquid asset
requirements.  

Title II Quality control plan; loan origination; loan servicing; federal
financial and activity reports; lender annual recertification;
adjusted net worth; liquidity and licensing; loan settlement;
escrow accounts and kickbacks 

In our opinion, University Bank complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements referred 
to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major HUD programs for the year ended 
December 31, 2024. 

Basis for Opinion on Each Major HUD Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing 
Standards); and the audit guide. Our responsibilities under those standards and the audit guide are further 
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance” section of our report.



Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

We are required to be independent of the Bank and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance 
with relevant ethical requirements related to our audit. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion on compliance for each major HUD program. Our audit does not provide a legal 
determination of the Bank’s compliance. 

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of 
laws, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to its HUD programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion 
on the Bank’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the audit guide will always detect material noncompliance when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material, if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Bank’s 
compliance with the requirements of each major HUD program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the audit guide, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the Bank’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred
to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the Bank’s internal control over compliance relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to test and report
on internal control over compliance in accordance with the audit guide, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 

Report on Internal Control over Compliance 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a HUD 
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility 
that material noncompliance with a compliance requirement of a HUD program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a compliance 
requirement of a HUD program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 



Board of Directors and Stockholders 
University Bancorp, Inc. and Subsidiaries 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the “Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance” section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not 
identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
audit guide. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Fort Wayne, Indiana 
March 25, 2025 



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF ADJUSTED NET WORTH TO DETERMINE
COMPLIANCE WITH HUD NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS

FHA servicing portfolio at December 31, 2024 485,592,912$   

FHA originations during 2024 91,158,655

FHA purchases during 2024 -

Total FHA loan activity 576,751,567

FHA originations during 2024 retained at
   December 31, 2024 -
FHA purchases during 2023 retained at
   December 31, 2023 -

Total adjustments -

Total adjusted FHA loan activity 576,751,567 

Minimum net worth required 1,000,000       

Additional net worth required (1% of total adjusted 
FHA loan activity greater than $25,000,000) 5,517,516 

Total net worth required (maximum $2,500,000) 2,500,000$      

Stockholder's equity per
  balance sheet 112,043,041$   
Less unacceptable assets

(5,784,476)      
(639,760)         
(177,297)         

Real estate assets not part of home office 
Intangible assets
Other assets
Prepaid expenses (4,915,511)

Adjusted net worth 100,525,997$   

Adjusted net worth above (below) required 
   minimum amount 98,025,997$    

December 31, 2024

See independent auditor's report. Page 68



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF LIQUIDITY TO DETERMINE COMPLIANCE

WITH HUD LIQUIDITY REQUIREMENTS

Cash and cash equivalents 27,171,101$   

Total liquid assets 27,171,101$   

Total net worth required (minimum $1,000,000

maximum $2,500,000) 2,500,000$     

Liquidity required (20% of total net worth required) 500,000$    

Liquidity assets above (below) required minimum amount 26,671,101$   

December 31, 2024

See independent auditor's report. Page 69



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF ADJUSTED NET WORTH TO DETERMINE

COMPLIANCE WITH GINNIE MAE NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS

December 31, 2024

Adjusted net worth:

Equity 112,043,041$  

Less unacceptable assets:

-$     

- 

- 

- 

639,760 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

177,297 

- 

- 

Total unacceptable assets 817,057 

Adjusted net worth 111,225,984$  

Category 2 - An asset due from an officer or stockholder of the lender or from 

a related entity, except for a. a construction loan receivable secured by a first 

mortgage from a related entity b. a mortgage loan receivable established in 

the normal course of business in an arm’s-length transaction and secured by 

a first mortgage on the related property c. a receivable from a related party 

when the affected parties have executed a cross-default agreement or 

corporate guarantee agreement with Ginnie Mae

Category 1 - Any asset or portion thereof pledged to secure obligations of 

another entity or any person 

Category 10 - Any asset that is principally used for the personal enjoyment or 

benefit of an officer, director, or stockholder and not for business purposes

Category 13 - Net deferred tax assets

Category 12 - That portion of contributed property in excess of the value as of 

the date of contribution determined by an independent appraisal

Category 11 - “Other assets” unless the financial statements are 

accompanied by a schedule prepared by the auditor, or a schedule prepared 

by the issuer-lender and signed by an officer of the issuer-lender

Category 3 - An investment in a related entity in which any officer or 

stockholder of the lender has a personal interest unrelated to that person’s 

position as an officer or stockholder of the lender

Category 4 - That portion of an investment in a joint venture, subsidiary, 

affiliate, or other related entity, which is greater than equity as adjusted 

(“Equity as adjusted” means the book value of the related entity reduced by 

the amount of unacceptable assets carried by the related entity)

Category 5 - Any intangible asset, including but not limited to goodwill, 

covenants not to compete, franchise fees, organization costs, software, value 

placed on insurance renewals, and value placed on property management 

contract renewals

Category 6 - The value of any servicing contract not determined in 

accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 

65, and SFAS No. 125, or their revisions

Category 7 - Any asset not readily marketable and for which appraised values 

are very subjective (i.e, antiques, artwork, and gemstones)

Category 8 - That portion of any marketable security (listed or unlisted) in 

excess of the lower of cost or market

Category 9 - Any amount in excess of the LCM value of mortgages in 

foreclosure, construction loans, or property acquired through foreclosure

See independent auditor's report. Page 70



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF ADJUSTED NET WORTH TO DETERMINE

COMPLIANCE WITH GINNIE MAE NET WORTH REQUIREMENTS (Continued)

December 31, 2024

Adjusted net worth (from previous page) 111,225,984$  

Required net worth:
Required Required

Category Amount Percentage Amount

Base requirement 2,500,000$      

Total effective Ginnie Mae single-

family outstanding obligations 503,500,405$      0.35% 1,762,251        

Total GSE single-family outstanding 

servicing portfolio 3,529,619,817$   0.25% 8,824,050        

Total non-agency single-family 

outstanding servicing portfolio 639,444,206$      0.25% 1,598,611        

Required net worth 14,684,912$    

Yes/No

Meets requirement? Yes

See independent auditor's report. Page 71



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE CAPITAL REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2024

Capital requirement for depository institutions:

Tier 1 capital 99,736,000$    

Total assets for the leverage ratio 959,828,000$   

Community bank leverage ratio 10.39%

Yes/No

Meets requirement? Yes

See independent auditor's report. Page 72



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE LIQUID ASSET REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2024

Liquid assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 27,171,101$     

AAA rated government securities - fair value -                    

GSE MBS 2,495,664         

GSE obligations -                    

Advances 4,281,275         

Total liquid assets 33,948,040$     

Required liquid assets:

Required Required

Category Amount Percentage Amount

Outstanding Ginnie Mae single-family 

servicing UPB 485,592,912$     0.100% 485,593$          

Outstanding GSE single-family 

servicing UPB, if the issuer remits (or 

the Enterprise draws) the principal 

and interest only as actually collected 

from the borrower 1,094,095,335$  0.035% 382,933            

Outstanding GSE single-family 

servicing UPB, if the issuer remits (or 

the Enterprise draws) the principal or 

interest, or both, as scheduled, 

regardless of whether principal or 

interest has been collected from the 

borrower 2,435,524,481$  0.070% 1,704,867         

Outstanding non-agency single-family 

servicing UPB 639,444,206$     0.035% 223,805            

Additional requirement for single-

family Issuers that originated more 

than $1,000,000,000 in UPB of any 

residential first mortgages, regardless 

of channel (including retail, wholesale 

correspondent, and wholesale 

broker) in the most recent four-

Loans held-for-sale 54,659,212$       0.500% 273,296            

UPB of IRLCs after fallout 

adjustments 36,283,539$       0.500% 181,418            

Total 3,251,912$       

Required liquid assets (greater of $1,000,000 or Total above) 3,251,912$       

Yes/No

Meets requirement? Yes

See independent auditor's report. Page 73 



UNIVERSITY BANK
COMPUTATION OF GINNIE MAE INSURANCE REQUIREMENT 

December 31, 2024

Identification of affiliated Ginnie Mae issuers:

Affiliated Ginnie Mae issuers:

Affiliated issuers on same insurance policies:

Required insurance calculation:

Servicing portfolio

Ginnie Mae 485,592,912$      

Fannie Mae 1,094,875,835

Freddie Mac 2,434,743,982

Conventional (other) 639,444,206

Total servicing portfolio 4,654,656,935$   

Required fidelity bond coverage 5,179,657$   

Required mortgage servicing errors and

omissions coverage 5,179,657$   

Verification of insurance coverage:

Fidelity bond coverage at end of reporting period 40,000,000$   

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions

coverage at end of reporting period 20,000,000$   

Excess (deficit) insurance coverage:

Fidelity bond coverage 34,820,343$   

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions coverage 34,820,343$   

Policies contain the required elements: Yes/No

Fidelity bond coverage Yes

Mortgage servicing errors and omissions coverage Yes

University Bank 4444

See independent auditor's report. Page 74



University Bank 
Schedule of Findings, Questioned Costs, and Recommendations 
Year Ended December 31, 2024 

Corrective Actions Not Started or In Process 

Reference 
Number Finding Questioned Costs

Our audit disclosed no findings that are required to be 
reported herein under the HUD Consolidated Audit Guide.   

Corrective Actions Completed 

Reference 
Number Finding Questioned Costs

Our audit disclosed no findings that are required to be 
reported herein under the HUD Consolidated Audit Guide.  



UNIVERSITY BANK 
SCHEDULE OF THE STATUS OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS, QUESTIONED COSTS 
AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
Year Ended December 31, 2024  
 
 

  

1. Audit report dated March 28, 2024, for the period ended December 31, 2023, issued 
by Forvis, LLP: 

 
There were no open findings, questioned costs, or recommendation from the prior 
audit report. 

 
2. There were no reports issued by HUD OIG or other Federal agencies or contract 

administrators during the period covered by this audit. 
 
3. There were no letters or reports issued by HUD management during the period 

covered by this audit. 




